# Effect of Alkaline Pretreatment on Characteristics and Biogas Production of Peanut (*Arachis hypogaea*) Shells



By Momina Hanif Malik (00000330061)

Institute of Environmental Sciences and Engineering (IESE)

School of Civil & Environmental Engineering (SCEE)

National University of Sciences and Technology (NUST)

Islamabad, Pakistan

2024

# Effect of Alkaline Pretreatment on Characteristics and Biogas Production of Peanut (*Arachis hypogaea*) Shells



By

## Momina Hanif Malik

(00000330061)

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science in

**Environmental Science** 

Supervisor: Dr. Zeshan

Institute of Environmental Sciences and Engineering (IESE)

School of Civil & Environmental Engineering (SCEE)

National University of Sciences and Technology (NUST)

Islamabad, Pakistan

2024

## THESIS ACCEPTANCE CERTIFICATE

It is certified that final copy of MS/MPhil thesis written by Ms. Momina Hanif Malik (Registration No. 00000330061) of SCEE (IESE) has been vetted by undersigned, found complete in all respects as per NUST Statutes/Regulations, is free of plagiarism, errors and mistakes and is accepted as partial fulfillment for award of MS/ MPhil degree. It is further certified that necessary amendments as pointed out by GEC members of the scholar have also been incorporated in the said thesis.

#### CERTIFICATE OF APPROVAL

This is to certify that the research work presented in this thesis, entitled "Effect of Alkaline Pretreatment on Characteristics and Biogas Production of Peanut (*Arachis hypogaea*) Shells" was conducted by Ms. Momina Hanif Malik under the supervision of Dr. Zeshan.

No part of this thesis has been submitted anywhere else for any other degree. This thesis is submitted to SCEE (IESE) in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Field of Environmental Science.

School of Civil and Environmental Engineering, National University of Sciences and Technology, Islamabad.

Student Name: Momina Hanif Malik

Guidance and Examination Committee:

- a) Dr. Muhammad Arshad
  Professor, SCEE (IESE)
- b) Dr. Musharib Khan Assistant Professor, SCEE (IESE)

Supervisor: Dr.Zeshan

Professor, SCEE (IESE)

HOD: Dr. Zeshan

Dr. Zeshan Tenured Professor HoD Environments & Sciences SCEE (IESE) NUST Islamabad

Associate Dean: Dr. Muhammad Arshad Associate Dean SCEE (IESE) NUST H-12, Islamabad Ignature:

Principal & Dean SCEE:

Signature:

Signature: Signature:

Signature:

Signature:

PROF DR MUHAMMAD IRFAN Principal & Dean SCEE, NUST

#### **AUTHOR'S DECLARATION CERTIFICATE**

I Momina Hanif Malik hereby state that my MS thesis titled "Effect of Alkaline Pretreatment on Characteristics and Biogas Production of Peanut (*Arachis hypogaea*) Shells" is my own work and has not been submitted previously by me for taking any degree from National University of Sciences and Technology, Islamabad or anywhere else in the country/world.

At any time if my statement is found to be incorrect even after I graduate, the university has the right to withdraw my MS degree.

Student Signature: Journe Name: Momina Hanif Malik

#### PLAGIARISM UNDERTAKING

I solemnly declare that research work presented in the thesis titled "Effect of Alkaline Pretreatment on Characteristics and Biogas Production of Peanut (*Arachis hypogaea*) Shells" is solely my research work with no significant contribution from any other person. Small contribution wherever taken has been duly acknowledged and that complete thesis has been written by me.

I understand the zero tolerance policy of the HEC and National University of Sciences and Technology (NUST), Islamabad towards plagiarism. Therefore, I as an author of the above tilted thesis declare that no portion of my thesis has been plagiarized and any material used as reference is properly cited.

I undertake that if I am found guilty of any formal plagiarism in the above titled thesis even after award of MS degree, the University reserves the rights to withdraw my MS degree and that HEC and NUST, Islamabad has the right to publish my name on the HEC/University website on which names of students are placed who submitted plagiarized thesis.

> Student Signature: <u>Jonina</u> Name: <u>Momina</u> Honif Molik Date: <u>16/09/2024</u>

I would like to dedicate my thesis project to my parents and supervisor who guided and assisted me throughout the journey.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

All praise to Allah Almighty, the most Merciful and Beneficent, on whom ultimately, we depend for sustenance and guidance. Allah blessed me with wisdom and courage to accomplish this research and who fetch me to this stage and helped me to come up with this effort.

I would like to express special gratitude to my supervisor **Dr. Zeshan**. This thesis is truly an outcome of his dedication, continuous support, guidance, valuable ideas and suggestions. I am grateful to my Guidance and Examination Committee comprising, **Dr. Muhammad Arshad** and **Dr. Musharib Khan** for their valuable guidance.

I would like to thank all the laboratory staff of IESE and technicians for their help and support. Special Thanks to **Mr. Muhammad Basharat** (Lab technician, Environmental Chemistry and Teaching Lab) for his kind behavior and invaluable assistance during experimental work.

I pay gratitude to my **parents and siblings**, who supported me throughout my research journey. Also special thanks to all my seniors and lab mates, Mr. Junaid, Mr. Zia Ullah, MS. Sahar Saleem, Ms. Sadia Fida, Ms. Bushra Kulsoom, Ms. Safina Ali, Mr. Shoaib Gillani for their continuous help and guidance. My deepest gratitude to my group of friends especially Ms. Shanza Shabbir, Ms. Maira Razzaq, Ms. Mariam Ali, Ms. Hajra Bibi, Mr. Ebadat-ur-Rehman for being my constant support throughout my research journey.

Momina Hanif Malik

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	ix
TABLE OF CONTENTS	x
LIST OF TABLES	xiii
LIST OF FIGURES	xiv
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xvi
ABSTRACT	xviii
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background	1
1.2 Prosperities of biogas technology	3
1.3 Need for pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass	4
1.4 Significance of the study	6
1.5 Objectives of the study	6
1.6 Scope of the study	6
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	8
2.1 Lignocellulosic biomass	8
2.1.1 Components of lignocellulosic biomass	8
2.2 Pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass	
2.3 Mechanism of anaerobic digestion (AD) process	
2.3.1 Hydrolysis	
2.3.2 Acidogenesis	
2.3.3 Acetogenesis	13
2.3.4 Methanogenesis	13
2.4 Factors affecting anaerobic digestion process	13
2.4.1 Particle size	13
2.4.2 Moisture content	14
2.4.3 pH	14
2.4.4 Temperature	14
2.4.5 Organic loading rate (OLR)	
2.4.7 Hydraulic retention time (HRT)	
2.4.8 Volatile fatty acids (VFAs) and alkalinity	

2.4.9 Inoculation	
2.4.10 Stirring	
2.4.11 Toxicity	
2.5 Types of anaerobic digesters	
2.5.1 Batch process	
2.5.2 Continuous process	
2.6 Studies on availability of different type of lignocellulosic feedstock	
2.6.1 Peanut shells as lignocellulosic feedstock	
2.7 Studies on impact of pretreatment methods on feedstock	21
2.7.1 Studies on impact of NaOH pretreatment on peanut shells	23
2.8 Studies on impact of co-digestion on biogas production	26
2.9 Summary	
CHAPTER 3: MATERIALS AND METHODS	
3.1 Feedstock and inoculum collection and preparation	
3.1.1 Feedstocks for anaerobic digestion (AD)	
3.1.2 Inoculum for anaerobic digestion (AD)	
3.2 Primary characterization of feedstock	
3.3 Chemical pretreatment of feedstock	
3.3.1 Alkaline pretreatment of peanut shells	
3.4 Experimental setup for anaerobic digestion (AD)	
3.4.1 Experimental conditions for anaerobic mono-digestion (AMD)	
3.4.2 Experimental conditions for anaerobic co-digestion (ACD)	
3.5 Characterization techniques for feedstock analysis	
3.5.1 Total solids (TS) of feedstock	
3.5.2 Volatile solids (VS) of feedstock	
3.5.3 Moisture content (MC) of feedstock	
3.5.4 Total organic carbon (TOC)	
3.5.5 Total Kjeldal nitrogen (TKN) of feedstock	
3.5.6 Carbon to Nitrogen ratio (C/N) of feedstock	
3.5.7 Extractives of feedstock	40
3.5.8 Hemicellulose of feedstock	
3.5.9 Lignin of feedstock	41

3.5.10 Cellulose of feedstock
3.5.11 Fourier Transform Infrared (FT-IR) technique
3.6 Analytical methods for anaerobic digestion (AD) setup42
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION
4.1 Characteristic of substrates and inoculum45
4.2 Effect of NaOH pretreatment on lignocellulosic composition of peanut shells46
4.2.1 Effect of NaOH pretreatment on chemical structure of peanut shells
4.3 Effect of NaOH pretreatment of peanut shells on biogas production, solids removal and reactor stability
4.3.1 Effect of NaOH pretreatment of PS on daily biogas production52
4.3.1.1 Effect of NaOH pretreatment of PS on daily biogas production from anaerobic mono- digestion (AMD)
4.3.1.2 Effect of NaOH pretreatment of PS on daily biogas production from anaerobic co- digestion (ACD)
4.3.2 Effect of NaOH pretreatment of PS on cumulative biogas production54
4.3.2.1 Effect of NaOH pretreatment of PS on cumulative biogas production from anaerobic mono- digestion (AMD)
4.3.2.2 Effect of NaOH pretreatment of PS on cumulative biogas production from anaerobic co- digestion (ACD)
4.3.3 Effect of NaOH pretreatment of PS on solids reduction
4.3.4 Effect of NaOH pretreatment of PS on reactor stability59
CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS63
5.1 Conclusions63
5.2 Recommendations
REFERENCES

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 Summary of mesophilic and thermophilic anaerobic digestion (AD) process	.15
Table 2.2 Studies on various pretreatments on different lignocellulosic feedstock	.22
Table 2.3 Studies on effect of NaOH pretreatment of peanut shells	.24
Table 2.4 Studies on anaerobic co-digestion for biogas production	.27
Table 3.1 Analytical parameters for AD process stability	40
Table 4.1 Characteristics of substrates and inoculum	.43
Table 4.2 Summary of obtained structural peaks with functional groups	.49

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 Province-wise production of <i>Arachis hypogaea</i> in Pakistan (1947-2022)2
Figure 2.1 Lignocellulosic structure of plant cell wall
Figure 2.2 Classification of lignocellulosic biomass10
Figure 2.3 Mechanism of anaerobic digestion process
Figure 2.4 Pretreatment: Mode of Action
Figure 3.1 Framework of experimental setup27
Figure 3.2 Steps used in feedstock collection and preparation27
Figure 3.3 Feedstock collection and preparation
Figure 3.4 Steps used in inoculum preparation (degassing)
Figure 3.5 Inoculum collection and preparation
Figure 3.6 Alkaline pretreatment of peanut shells: a) Untreated PS b) Pretreated PS
Figure 3.7 Anaerobic mono-digestion (AMD) setup
Figure 3.8 Anaerobic co-digestion (ACD) setup
Figure 3.9 Anaerobic digestion setup a) Bottle crimping b) Incubation
Figure 4.1 Effect of alkaline pretreatment on lignocellulosic composition of peanut shells
Figure 4.2 FT-IR spectra of untreated and alkali pretreated peanut shells
Figure 4.3 Daily biogas production from anaerobic mono-digestion using alkali pretreated peanut shells
Figure 4.4 Daily biogas production from anaerobic co-digestion using alkali pretreated peanut shells
Figure 4.5 Cumulative biogas production from anaerobic mono-digestion (AMD) using alkali pretreated peanut shells

Figure 4.6 Cumulative biogas production from anaerobic co-digestion (ACD) using alkali
pretreated peanut shells
Figure 4.7 Effect of NaOH pretreatment of PS on solids reduction for both AD setups
Figure 4.8 Effect of NaOH pretreatment of PS on reactor pH for both AD setups
Figure 4.9 Effect of NaOH pretreatment of PS on reactor VFA/TA for both AD setups

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Abbreviations	Description
ACD	Anaerobic co-digestion
AD	Anaerobic digestion
AMD	Anaerobic mono-digestion
APHA	American Public Health Association
C=C	Carbon to Carbon double bonding
$CH_4$	Methane
C-H	Carbon to Hydrogen bond
СМ	Cow manure
C/N	Carbon to Nitrogen ratio
$CO_2$	Carbon dioxide
C-O-C	Carbon-Oxygen-Carbon or Ether bond
°C	Degree centigrade
d	Days
DM	Dry matter
3D	Three dimensional
FT-IR	Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy
GC	Gas chromatograph
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
g/L	Gram per liter
gVS/L	Gram of volatile solids per liter
h	Hours
HRT	Hydraulic retention time
$H_2$	Hydrogen
$H_2O$	Water vapors
$H_2SO_4$	Sulphuric acid
KBr	Potassium bromide
КОН	Potassium hydroxide
LCH	Lignin, cellulose and hemicellulose
mm	Millimeter

Μ	Molar solution		
MC	Moisture content		
mg/L	Milligram per liter		
Mt	Million tonnes		
mL	Milliliters		
Ν	Normal solution		
$N_2$	Nitrogen		
NaHCO <sub>3</sub>	Sodium bicarbonate		
NaOH	Sodium hydroxide		
NH <sub>3</sub>	Ammonia		
NmL	Normal milliliter (Volume at gas at standard temperature pressure and without moisture content)		
NmL/gVS	Normal milliliter per gram of volatile solids		
OLR	Organic loading rate		
PS	Peanut shells		
rpm	Revolutions per minute		
S/I	Substrate to inoculum ratio		
TA	Total alkalinity		
TKN	Total Kjeldal nitrogen		
TOC	Total organic carbon		
TS	Total solids		
USEIA	US Energy Information Administration		
VFAs	Volatile fatty acids		
VS	Volatile solids		
VW	Vegetable waste		
W/V	Weight per volume		
%	Percentage		
%T	Transmittance in percentage		
2% PS	2% NaOH pretreated peanut shells		
4% PS	4% NaOH pretreated peanut shells		
6% PS	6% NaOH pretreated peanut shells		
8% PS	8% NaOH pretreated peanut shells		

#### ABSTRACT

Anaerobic digestion (AD) mitigates high energy demand by converting lignocellulosic waste into biogas and digestate. This process supports the economy, reduces energy crises, and enhances environmental sustainability. Agricultural residues serve as promising energy resource in carrying out AD process. Recalcitrant lignocellulosic structure of Arachis hypogea shells and high carbon to nitrogen (C/N) ratio of peanut shells (PS) usually impedes efficiency of AD process. Therefore, this study was conducted with two aims i.e. application of alkaline pretreatment on PS before initiating AD and use of vegetable waste (VW) as a co-substrate to balance the C/N for effective AD performance. Exposure of PS was given to varying NaOH concentrations of 2%, 4%, 6% and 8%, which was followed by batch-mode AD including monoand co-digestion under mesophilic temperature range for 45d. The characterization of untreated and pretreated PS was done using FT-IR (Fourier Transform Infrared) spectroscopy. FT-IR results confirmed the change in structural peaks after pretreatment. Additional ultimate analysis depicted the enrichment of essential nutrients in VW, making it suitable for using as co-substrate with PS. Results showed that 4% NaOH provided maximum cellulose recovery (96.04%) and 75% lignin removal. Further investigation revealed an improvement in biogas production during co-digestion setup rather than mono-digestion. Anaerobic co-digestion (ACD) of NaOH pretreated PS with VW has recorded cumulative biogas production in following order: 4% > 2%> 6% > 8% which produced 65%, 58.75%, 42.2% and 37.5% respectively more cumulative biogas as compared with control group. Overall, low NaOH dosage i.e. 2% to 4% was found more effective than high dosage 6% to 8% in delignification. This study concluded that alkaline pretreatment has effectively improved cellulose recovery and lignin degradation, while ACD resulted in greater biogas production than mono-digestion.

**Key words:** Anaerobic co-digestion, Biogas enhancement, Lignocellulosic waste, Peanut shells, Vegetable waste.

## **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

### **1.1 Background**

Rapid growth of global population, better lifestyles and increased industrialization has triggered a notable upsurge in energy demand, forecasted to escalate by 56% by year 2040 according to the US Energy Information Administration (2020). To improve country's economic growth and its development, energy serves as a key element. At global level, the exploitation of fossil fuels as a conventional option for producing energy has become a serious concern regarding environmental problems like climate change and global warming (Agyekum et al., 2021; Ansari et al., 2021; Peter, 2018).

Tragically, like other developing countries, Pakistan is also facing various issues owing to energy crisis and mainly reliant on non-renewable fossil fuels. By year 2005, the use of natural gas in Pakistan had significantly ascended, comprising nearly 50% of the total energy consumption (Kardon et al., 2020). Likewise, this country relied heavily on importing large quantities of crude oil to meet its energy requirements (Kamran, 2018). The overuse of nonrenewable energy resources has caused environmental degradation along with depletion of fossil fuel reserves (Agyekum et al., 2021; Ansari et al., 2021). To battle these concerns, country is considering plenty of sustainable and renewable energy options (Xu et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2017). At present, bioenergy stands out as a key option in alleviating energy shortage, being recognized as the fourth-largest energy resource worldwide (Dutta et al., 2021; Chen & Lee, 2014). In this scenario, bio-waste serves as a potential renewable source for a green and clean energy production which also fulfilling the 3Rs (reduce, reuse, recycle) principle (Aklilu et al., 2021). Ahmed et al. (2020) reported that roughly 120 billion tons of lignocellulose waste gets discharge into environment every year, equivalent to approximately 2.2 x 10<sup>21</sup> joules. This amount surpasses the current worldwide energy requirement by more than 300 times (Guo et al., 2015).

Pakistan's geographic location provides ample opportunities for harnessing renewable energy resources such as marine, solar, wind and biomass. Among renewable options, biomass has received significant attention being a promising, suitable and sustainable alternate for fossil fuels to produce substantial amounts of low-carbon energy (Ahmad et al., 2020; Dahunsi et al., 2019)

and other valuable energy by-products i.e. biogas and bioenergy (Isikgor and Becer, 2015; Zheng et al., 2018). Pakistan's status as an agrarian country underscores its vast potential for producing bioenergy from a diverse array of lignocellulosic biomasses such as agricultural residues, crop residues, food waste, sugar bagasse, wheat straw, rice straw, animal and other poultry litter etc. (Maryam et al., 2021; Abraham et al., 2020; Ufodike et al., 2020; Saeed et al., 2015; Asif, 2009).

Peanut is a prominent leguminous crop that is extensively distributed across various zones like warm temperate areas in Asia, Africa, South America, North America, Europe and other tropical countries (Freeman et al., 1999). Based on Agricultural Statistics of Pakistan (2022), approximately, 84% of the total peanut-producing area is situated in Punjab, with 13% in KPK and the remaining 3% in Sindh illustrated in Figure 1.1.



Figure 1.1 Province-wise production of Arachis hypogaea in Pakistan (1947-2022)

In time span of 1998-1999, peanut cultivation extended over 97,500 hectares, resulting in a production of 104,000 tons, with an average yield of 1067 kilograms per hectare (Abbas, 2021). Based on USDA (2016) report, the worldwide production of peanuts, including shells, was noted to be 40 million tons during 2015. China accounted for 40%, while other Asian countries contributed 19%, Americas 11% and Africa 18% (Fletcher et al., 2016). Another study (FAOSTAT, 2022) presented nearly 53,638,932 tonnes of peanut were produced globally in the year 2020. The peanut pod typically comprises of 65-75% seed, while the remaining 25–35% constitutes the protective shell layer (Nigam, 2014), resulting in 8 Mt of residual biomass in Asia alone (Perea et al., 2018; Kristoferson et al., 1986). These shells contain high percentages of cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin content (Almeida et al., 2024; Jekayinfa et al., 2020). During harvesting and processing, bulky amount of peanut residues are mostly left on fields that can harbor the pathogens growth and if burned, produce harmful gases (GHGs) directly into atmosphere and squander their potential with losing inherent energy (Singh et al., 2021; Jekayinfa et al., 2020; Heuze et al., 2017; Kerr et al., 1986). This is seemed as a deadly practice for waste management as well as environment sustainability (Khalid et al., 2019).

From recent years, peanut shells as a lignocellulosic material came under the limelight since it's been produced extensively. Approximately, 28 million tonnes (Mt) of peanuts are yearly produced. Past researches highlight the opportunity to consume peanut shells for producing biogas which in turns uphold low carbon energy and zero-waste production (Olatunji et al., 2024). Such residual waste entails high energy content that is worth-exploring. For positive environmental impact, these organic shells must be processed into valuable green by-products i.e., biogas, biofuels, biochar and bioenergy prior to their disposing and burning (Lokasundaram, 2023; Lin et al., 2020; Dharanipriya et al., 2019).

#### **1.2 Prosperities of biogas technology**

Biogas emerges as a promising substitute for fossil fuels, offering plenty of environmental and socioeconomic benefits enlisted below:

- Cost effective (Holm-Nielsen et al., 2009, Mao et al., 2015)
- Clean and Eco-friendly (Ngan et al., 2020).
- Safeguards the environment (Cuellar and Webber, 2008)
- Limits the atmospheric emissions of GHGs (Cuellar and Webber, 2008)

- Green energy production (Rehl and Muller, 2011)
- Manages waste from direct disposal or landfilling (Cuellar and Webber, 2008)

Anaerobic digestion is basically a series of processes i.e. Hydrolysis, acidogenesis, acetogenesis and methanogenesis) performed by consortia of microbes in absence of  $O_2$  that helps in degrading the complex carbohydrates of bio-waste into carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) and methane (CH<sub>4</sub>). During AD process, hydrolysis is often envisaged as a rate-limiting step that often prolongs the AD process with low biogas yield (Dutta et al., 2021; Maharaj et al., 2019). To tackle this, pretreatment step is highly needed prior to AD process as it facilitates the delignification more effectively with high cellulose provision to enzymatic hydrolysis as well as bacterial attack which subsequently produce more biogas (Dutta et al., 2021).

Several methods are readily available for converting biomass into valuable by-products for instance combustion, fermentation, pyrolysis and anaerobic digestion (AD) etc. Combustion and pyrolysis are usually energy-intensive processes to treat humid-rich waste with high operational cost (Grande et al., 2021). Thus, AD technique has been a common practice for biogas generation at domestic and commercial level as well (Ngan et al., 2020) due to its cost effectiveness and nutrient rich bio-digestate and more CH<sub>4</sub> as by-products for past decades (Zhang et al., 2019; Hawash et al., 2017; Neshat et al., 2017; Zhou et al., 2017).

#### 1.3 Need for pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass

Any lignocellulosic substrate contains three key components including cellulose, hemicellulose and lignin in their composition (Almeida et al., 2024; Kassaye et al., 2016). In the structure, cellulose polymer makes  $\beta$ -1-4 glycosidic bonds and is highly accountable for biogas generation during AD (Koupaie et al., 2019). Due to shielding of cellulose by other polymers (lignin and hemicellulose), conversion of biomass into biogas is not very easy, often delayed and results into low biogas generation (Hassan et al., 2017; Rodriguez et al., 2017). Similarly, lignin makes a complex recalcitrant 3D structure throughout cell wall and inhibits the microbial degradation leaving behind the more cellulose undigested (Almeida et al., 2024; Neshat et al., 2017; Sun et al., 2016). Therefore, to break such rigid bonds, pretreatment of lignocellulose material is an essential step to achieve high yield of biogas after digesting major cellulose portion and to overcome structural impediments of feedstock during AD (Zheng et al., 2018). The impact of pretreatments significantly fluctuates from feedstock to feedstock, showing no universal consistency (Olatunji et al., 2024; Olatunji et al., 2023; Olatunji et al., 2022; Siddhu et al., 2016; Menardo et al., 2012).

Previous studies have mentioned countless appropriate pretreatment techniques such as mechanical (grinding, extrusion and milling), chemical (alkaline, acidic, advanced oxidation process), biological (fungal, bacterial and enzymatic) and thermal pretreatments to improve the rate-limiting step during AD process for maximum biogas production (Awoyale et al., 2021; Nges et al., 2016; Liu et al., 2015). Thermal and biological pretreatments have few limitations because of its high cost, more energy consumption, time-consuming method; incomplete hydrolysis, formation of inhibitory compounds as well as bacterial or fungal strains is not easily cultivated upon lab conditions (Osorio-Gonzalez et al., 2018).

Previous work declared alkaline pretreatment to be more effective in use due to its low operational cost with mild conditions; easily decline the cellulose crystallinity as well as high pH can greatly dissolve more lignin and hemicellulose. Moreover, alkaline pretreatment have resulted into more lignin degradation (Khalid et al., 2019). More frequently used alkaline chemicals are NaOH and KOH (Maryam et al., 2021; Veluchamy et al., 2018).

It is highly challenging to optimize the anaerobic digestion (AD) process exclusively with utilizing mono-substrates due to various factors including inadequate microbial communities, nutrient imbalances and influence of operational parameters (Ngan et al., 2019). Despite of securing energy, solely-used substrate can create hindrance in the performance of microbes during digestion due to excessive nitrogen and ammonia (Moestedt et al., 2016). Low value of C/N ratio can cause carbon deficiency and ammonia accumulation similarly more value of C/N can produce nitrogen deficiency thus produce less methane yield (Li et al., 2011). Hence, solely use of peanut shells in AD is seemed barely effective as it limits the biogas generation due to its high carbon to nitrogen (C/N) ratio which means nitrogen content is very low in PS thus impedes efficiency of AD process owing to nutrient imbalancing. Regarding this, co-digestion factor could assist in improving and optimizing AD after C/N adjustment (Olatunji et al., 2023, Aklilu et al., 2021; Rajput et al., 2021). For that reason, co-digestion with nitrogen rich waste such as vegetable waste might be helpful in supplementing the nitrogen (N<sub>2</sub>) deficiency. The nitrogen content in vegetable waste is relatively high which could help in adjusting C/N ratio to ideal range i.e. 20-30 (Rajput et al., 2021).

### 1.4 Significance of the study

Globally, to manage our ecosystem and fulfilling energy demand, the right use of existing energy resources has gained alot of attention for past decades. Like other crop residues, managing peanut shells has become another emerging challenge in developing countries. In a world where sustainability is no longer but a necessity, every bit of resource efficiency matters. Therefore, the benefits of these shells shouldn't be limited to gardens only. These casings hold a wealth of value because of its lignocellulosic nature which makes them far mightier to generate renewable green energy through AD process. Past studies revealed that suitable pretreatment is desired to overcome this compositional hindrance in order to produce more biogas. Besides this, ensure the nutrient balancing is another main element during AD process.

Hence, this study was conducted with two aims i.e. using alkaline pretreatment of peanut shells before initiating anaerobic digestion and use of selective vegetable waste as a co-substrate to balance the nutrients for a greater microbial performance. Peanut shells are carbon enriched that act as a potent energy source for microbes while vegetable waste holds nitrogen enrichment to balance the C/N ratio. Yet, to best of our knowledge, no past studies are available on anaerobic co-digestion of pretreated peanut casings with mixture of selective vegetable waste as co-substrate.

## 1.5 Objectives of the study

Anaerobic digestion of peanut shells is highly challenging due to its intricate lignocellulosic composition and high C/N value. To address this issue, current study has focused on following main objectives:

- 1. To study the effect of alkaline pretreatment on lignocellulosic composition of peanut shells.
- 2. To study the effect of pretreated peanut shells and untreated peanut shells on biogas production.
- **3.** To study the effect of co-digestion with pretreated and untreated peanut shells on biogas production.

## 1.6 Scope of the study

The defined scope of present study is as follows:

- 1. The effect of alkaline pretreatment on the biogas production of peanut shells was assayed.
- **2.** Peanut shells were collected from field at Attock district and vegetable waste were collected from local market (Itwar-bazar) in Islamabad.
- **3.** Fresh cow manure was used as an inoculum which was collected from local animal farm at H-13 Islamabad, near NUST.
- **4.** Effectiveness of alkaline pretreatment was monitored through changes in lignocellulosic composition of peanut shells.
- **5.** Batch-mode experiments of mono-digestion and co-digestion were carried out at lab-scale.

## **CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW**

This chapter mainly focused on availability of lignocellulosic waste with detailed review on the pretreatment of waste with synergistic effect of using more suitable substrates and how it influence the biogas production, the mechanism of an anaerobic digestion and factors affecting it.

#### 2.1 Lignocellulosic biomass

Lignocellulose biomass is basically an organic dry matter of a plant which is ultimately available in huge amount and pondered as optimal source for energy production (biogas, biofuels etc.) instead of consuming conventional fossil fuels. This waste categorizes many different kind of bio-materials including agricultural residues, crops residues, forestry residues, shells (Santos et al., 2021).

Globally, lignocellulosic waste has been spawned about 1.3 billion tons on yearly basis however merely 3% gets consume for producing valuable energy by-products (Areepak et al., 2022). The lignocellulosic material is typically made up of cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin as 35-50%, 20-35% and 10-25% respectively (Almeida et al., 2024; Liu et al., 2008) in addition to small amount of extractives (Ghaemi et al., 2019). Though, these percentages vary from substrate to substrate on the basis of their origin, type and growing conditions etc. Figure 2.1 is displaying the common lignocellulosic structure of plant cell wall (Sankaran et al., 2021).

## 2.1.1 Components of lignocellulosic biomass

The major component of lignocellulosic biomass is cellulose which makes a linear structure of  $\beta$ -1, 4 glycosidic bonds strongly linked with D-glucose units (10,000-15,000) forming a long chains. The strong hydrogen bonding as well as Vander Waals forces between these cellulose chains forms micro fibrils. This biopolymer structure consists of two parts, one is highly crystalline and other is amorphous (less crystalline). The pectin, hemicellulose and lignin also assist these micro fibrils of cellulose to make a highly compact structure with more protection against any microbial or chemical attack (Wang et al., 2020; Zheng et al., 2018).

Unlike cellulose, hemicellulose is a biopolymer builds a nonlinear (branched) structure with highly amorphous nature. Such kind of arrangement makes it extremely vulnerable to heat and other biological and chemical attack (Singh et al., 2014). This carbohydrate polymer is mainly composed of several types of sugar polymers (C5, C6) such as hexose, pentose as well as sugar acids through glycosidic bonds ( $\beta$ -1, 4 and  $\beta$ -1, 3) present between them. Hemicellulose provides high rigidity to the lignocellulosic structure by connecting lignin and cellulose together to itself (behaving as a connecter) by forming a matrix (cellulose-hemicellulose-lignin). Moreover, its solubility rises with temperature (Liu et al., 2019).



Figure 2.1 Lignocellulosic structure of plant cell wall

The third principle component of lignocellulose is lignin. This aromatic biopolymer is hydrophobic in nature (water repellent) which makes it insoluble in water as well as forms an amorphous structure. It is mostly present in cell wall and protects other polymers (cellulose and hemicellulose) against biological attack as well as strengthens the structure of lignocellulose. It is formed by three alcohol units (C6-C3) i.e., coniferyl alcohol, sinapyl alcohol and p-cuomaryl alcohol in cross-linkage manner. The lignin provides the 3D structure to lignocellulose by interlinking hemicellulose as well as cellulose. Lignin acts as a recalcitrant component which prohibit the bioconversion that effortlessly (Kucharska et al., 2018; Zheng et al., 2018).

#### 2.2 Pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass

Lignocellulosic materials are considered as a key energy resource due to its cellulose and hemicellulose portions that are highly responsible for biogas generation during AD process. On the other hand, another portion (lignin) of lignocellulose, being a recalcitrant constituent, impedes the biomass conversion through degradation anaerobically which ultimately reduces the biogas yield. Lignin basically shields the cellulose and hemicellulose which in turns lessen the cellulose digestion. Thus, to enrich the yield of biogas, the application of pretreatment techniques is obligatory prior to anaerobic digestion process for lignin degradation and ensures the high availability of cellulose towards biological attack (Bhatia et al., 2019; Sindhu et al., 2017)

Lignocellulosic substrates are primarily classified into two portions, one is biodegradable and other is recalcitrant which is shown in Figure 2.2. Therefore, it is highly needed to degrade the recalcitrant portion in order to increase the lignocellulose feedstock biodegradability. Past literature has observed that several factors disturb the biodegradability of feedstock based on structural nature for instance, degree of crystallinity of cellulose and available surface area etc. Therefore, pretreatment helps to modify the structure for enhanced biodegradation (Yang et al., 2015).

Zheng et al. (2018) reported several pretreatment techniques which are categorized into: physical (including pyrolysis, ultrasound, microwave, grinding), biological (such as microbes, enzymes and fungi) and chemical (alkali, wet oxidation, acid, steam explosion) etc. Another study (Behera et al., 2014) mentioned various significant factors that need to be considered while selecting the pretreatment method such as cost effective, more economical (energy efficient), more yield, enhance digestibility of cellulose, high sugar (carbohydrate) recovery, nutrient rich digestate and increased lignin degradation etc. (Kumar and Sharma, 2017).

#### 2.3 Mechanism of anaerobic digestion (AD) process

The mechanism of anaerobic digestion process is illustrated in Figure 2.3. Anaerobic digestion (AD) is considered as a highly versatile method that is carried out by group of microbial activity to breakdown the complex structure of organic waste into valuable energy by-products (nutrient rich digestate, bioenergy and biofuels) in the absence of oxygen (Di Maria et al.,2017). The final

products of AD process includes biogas (60-75% methane, 30-40% carbon dioxide and some other trace gases (H<sub>2</sub>S, N<sub>2</sub>, H<sub>2</sub>, and water vapors), nutrient enriched digestate that can further be used as a fertilizer. The generation of biogas takes place through a collaborative process involving a consortium of microbes, progressing through four separate phases: hydrolysis, acidogenesis, acetogenesis and methanogenesis. Each phase results into different by-products (Wei et al., 2018; Li et al., 2012).



Figure 2.2 Classification of lignocellulosic biomass

#### 2.3.1 Hydrolysis

Firstly, hydrolysis reaction takes place when complex insoluble organic material is broken down into simple soluble compounds. For instance, carbohydrates, proteins, lipids convert into sugars, amino acids and fatty acids using extracellular enzymes. This extracellular step is necessary before acidification process occurs which helps fermentative microbes to integrate complex compound directly into their body. This whole step ensues in the presence of various enzymes including xylanase, cellulose, amylase and cellobiase responsible for degrading carbohydrates, lipase enzyme is accountable for breaking down of lipids while protease upholds the degradation of proteins (Schon, 2010). Due to recalcitrant nature of organic matter, this hydrolysis step is often termed as rate-limiting step. Because of which, anticipation of pretreatment is considered for breaking down of crystallinity in biomass structure (Bajpai, 2017; Hendriks & Zeeman, 2009).



Figure 2.3 Mechanism of anaerobic digestion process

### 2.3.2 Acidogenesis

Fermentative microbe is responsible to carry out this step to further breakdown the compounds into carbon dioxide, formate, propionate, methanol, hydrogen, butyrate and acetate etc. During

this phase, acidogenic microbes (known as acid-formers) also facilitate the conversion of hydrolysis by-products into volatile fatty acids. The organic matter degrades spontaneously and liberates additional energy for bacterial community (Bajpai, 2017; Vavilin et al., 2008).

#### 2.3.3 Acetogenesis

Acetogenic microbes become very active during this phase and convert the previous step byproducts (organic acids) into acetic acid, acetate,  $H_2$  and  $CO_2$  through oxidizing which ultimately can be utilized for producing methane (Liu et al., 2018).

#### 2.3.4 Methanogenesis

Two distinct microbial consortia named as Acetoclastic (acetate consumer) and hydrogenotrophic ( $H_2$  and  $CO_2$  consumer) microbes (methanogens) are responsible in producing methane at the end of this last phase.

These methanogenic microbes are also termed as strict anaerobes. The conversion of acetate into  $CH_4$  and  $CO_2$  is facilitated by acetotrophic methanogenic bacteria while direct conversion of carbon dioxide into  $CH_4$  is ensued by hydrogenotrophic methanogenic bacteria that consume  $H_2$  as electron donor (Bajpai, 2017; Angelidaki et al., 2011).

### 2.4 Factors affecting anaerobic digestion process

A variety of microbes are accountable to govern entire anaerobic digestion process. Therefore, favorable environment is their necessity to perform effectively and efficiently. Weiland (2010) highlights some significant factors that can disturb the favorable environment of microbes and ultimately devastate the AD process if not properly considered. The detailed discussion of these stability parameters which play a key role in making reactor more stable is provided here.

#### 2.4.1 Particle size

Kratky and Jirout, (2011) reports the size of particles used in AD process truly matters in case of successful digestion i.e. small size of substrate particles can be easily digested by microbes due to low crystallinity of cellulose with availability of more surface area then enhanced methane generation. Yadvika et al. (2004) demonstrated that hydrolysis phase of AD process can get more effective and efficient by utilizing substrate particles of small size (Eryildiz et al., 2020).

#### 2.4.2 Moisture content

All chemical and bio-chemical reactions necessitate the moisture content which assists microbial community to do the AD process through increased material transfer as well as more nutrient absorption hence increased production of biogas (Eryildiz et al., 2020; Heiske et al., 2015).

### 2.4.3 pH

This is considered as the most critical parameter in AD process. Since the whole process of anaerobic digestion is greatly depending upon pH which needs to lie within optimal range to benefit the microbial community otherwise this can directly disturb the stability of a reactor as well as the microbial performance. Literature shows that methanogenic microbes work actively in the pH around 6.8-7.5 (optimal range) which means if pH drops below 6.8 or goes above 7.5 can create disturbance in both conditions.

For instance, any sudden deviation from this optimal range can considerably distress the microbial growth, their activity and restrain the overall digestion system due to the occurrence of many toxic intermediates and more alkalinity levels can produce less methane yield. This all can happened due to the rapid increase in VFAs, acetic acid and ammonia which execute negative impact on AD process (Eryildiz et al., 2020; Hagos et al., 2017).

#### 2.4.4 Temperature

Temperature is another most significant parameter of AD process that can tremendously upset the overall performance and stability of anaerobic digester. Generally, AD process can be operated under multiple temperature ranges for instance hyper-thermophilic range (above  $55^{\circ}$ C) thermophilic range ( $50^{\circ}$ C to  $55^{\circ}$ C), mesophilic range ( $35^{\circ}$ C to  $40^{\circ}$ C) and psychrophilic range ( $11^{\circ}$ C to  $25^{\circ}$ C) based on study (Uddin et al., 2016).

The microbial community requires temperature maintenance to perform actively because they are highly sensitive towards temperature fluxes which ultimately influence the substrate degrading rate and less methane formation. Yadvika et al. (2004) observed that biogas generating anaerobes perform well under mesophilic and thermophilic regimes than other ranges.

Both temperature regimes demonstrate some pros and cons as well. For instance, low temperature (mesophilic) demands more retention time (nearly 45d or more) as compared to

thermophilic (15d to 25d) (Eryildiz et al., 2020; Jain et al., 2015). Mesophilic regime is more cost effective than thermophilic as it consumes less energy (Neshat et al., 2017).

Moreover, thermophilic is vulnerable to the surrounding conditions as compared to mesophilic. Despite of high biogas production through thermophilic operation, it is not commonly preferred in AD process due to more heat consumption rather mesophilic operation upholds better performance, high stability (Bowen et al., 2014). The summarized evaluation of mesophilic and thermophilic operations during AD procedure is illustrated in Table 2.1.

Operations	<b>Mesophilic</b> (35 °C - 40 °C)	<b>Thermophilic</b> (50 °C - 55 °C)
Energy demand	Less	More
AD system stability	More	Less
Methane yield	Less	More
Retention time	More (45 d)	Less (15 d – 25 d)
Degradation rate	Less	More
Temperature sensitivity	Less	More

Table 2.1 Summary of mesophilic and thermophilic anaerobic digestion (AD) process

#### 2.4.5 Organic loading rate (OLR)

This is another significant parameter in AD process which defines the quantity of substrate (dry) that is used per digester volume per time. This seems a key parameter in attaining the active performance of microbes which helps in improving biogas yield as well. Undeniably, microbes need extremely favorable loading conditions thus maintaining the OLR is very significant else

obstruction to system can occur eventually i.e. increased feeding in the digesters can unfavorably influence the system by microbial (methanogens) inactivation which further dominates the acid formation through acidogenesis and overall pH of reactor falls. Subsequently, methanogenic microbes become impotent to convert large amount of acids into methane during acidic condition and poorly cease the process (Eryildiz et al., 2020; Rincon et al., 2008).

#### 2.4.6 Carbon to Nitrogen ratio (C/N)

For an effective and faster growth of microbes and their active performance has based on nutrients availability within a system. Adding the appropriate amount of nutrients either micro or macro seems very essential for continuing the AD process more effectively. Micro-nutrients are highly accountable for methane generation (Nges et al., 2012). Risberg et al. (2013) stated that 20-30 range is found to be the optimum (ideal) for C/N ratio of anaerobic digester.

The C/N is basically a carbon to nitrogen ratio and any deviation from this ideal range either more or less can influence the system stability. For instance, less value of carbon to nitrogen ratio can cause carbon deficiency and ammonia accumulation similarly more value of C/N can produce nitrogen deficiency and produce less methane yield. Therefore, any change from optimal C/N value can lead failure to AD process (Li et al., 2011).

Risberg et al. (2013) discussed that lignocellulosic materials contain more C/N value while manure contains less C/N value. In this way, application of co-digestion can achieve the nutrient balancing more efficiently rather than sole substrate.

#### 2.4.7 Hydraulic retention time (HRT)

Likewise OLR, hydraulic retention time is also an obligatory parameter during AD process. Microorganisms necessitate a proper feeding time to provide by-products. The maintenance of optimal HRTs in system must be satisfied for effective AD process. For example, increased HRTs can cause nutrient shortage and ultimately microbial death occurs while decreased HRTs give rise to more acid accumulation in system and eventually less methane production (Eryildiz et al., 2020; Metcalf, 2003).

#### 2.4.8 Volatile fatty acids (VFAs) and alkalinity

During AD process, several different by-products are obtained at the end of each phase. So, formation of volatile fatty acids is one of them such as butyric acid, acetic acid and propionic

acid. VFAs are seemed very useful in evaluating the stability and performance of the whole anaerobic digestion process i.e. pH value drops if more VFA's accumulation occur and cause acidification as well which hinders the microbial activity and overall AD system gets ceased (Bah et al., 2014). Cirne et al. (2007) reported that the VFA value of nearly 1500-2000 (mg/L) can lead to AD failure.

Similarly, Alkalinity is another important factor to evaluate the working and stability of anaerobic reactor. At neutral pH, the AD process remains stable and produce relatively high methane yield. This level of pH can only be attained if substrate contains high value of alkalinity against VFAs. In order to maintain the system pH, several buffering reagents can be utilized mainly sodium bicarbonate and lime etc. (Khalid et al., 2019; Neshat et al., 2017; Li et al., 2009).

#### **2.4.9 Inoculation**

Inoculation is highly needed in the process of anaerobic digestion to avoid the lagging period during biogas yield as several communities of bacteria are present in inoculum which actually digest the material or else whole process will get prolonged to initiate.

Conventionally, animal manure (Dhamodharan et al., 2015) is used as inoculum which is easily available or digestate (Ye et al., 2013) from treatment plants can also be utilized. The past study examined that methane yield from using cow manure was relatively higher.

#### 2.4.10 Stirring

For degrading more substrate and increased biogas yield, firstly build the interaction between feedstock and anaerobes is really promising. It can be possible through proper mixing of materials (slurry) present in a reactor. Otherwise limited substrate will be available to microbes for digestion and fewer biogas yields will be obtained at the end.

Past study (Rai, 2011) has discovered that a slight manual stirring for 2-3 min on each day can increase degradation, avoid layering and high yield. Moreover, a proper mixing can favors the AD system by evenly distributing the feed throughout system without clogging, liberating more gas trapped between material layers in bubble form and transferring heat easily. Another study has witnessed that layering in reactor can reduce the daily yield of biogas which was noted to be 88% (Tian et al., 2018).

## 2.4.11 Toxicity

Yang et al. (2015) studied that excessive production of volatile fatty acids from using carbohydrate enriched substrate have negative impact on stable AD process. Similarly, protein enriched substrate can produce large quantities of total ammonium nitrogen. Both these intermediates if produce in excessive amount can create more toxicity to system so highly needed to be under control. The use of co-digestion can better resolve this issue of toxicity such as using protein based substrate can effectively lessen the impact of VFA's inhibition.

#### 2.5 Types of anaerobic digesters

Anaerobic digesters are mainly used to carry out AD process for biogas generation. It is usually a closed bio-digester with insulated lid to ensure the anaerobic conditions (no oxygen) for anaerobes to nurture and work properly under suitable environment. Anaerobes digest the complex organic feedstock and produces biogas as well as other valuable by-products (Wei et al., 2018; Leggett et al., 2006). There are two distinct types of anaerobic digesters depending upon the mode of operation.

#### 2.5.1 Batch process

Anaerobic digestion reaction can be carried out in batch mode where feed is introduced once at the beginning and emptied on finishing the AD process. It is also known as fill and draw reactor. The batch mode reactors are simply designed, easy to operate, more substrate digestion and more economical in carrying out AD process within a single unit (Wei et al., 2018; Carrere et al., 2016; Igoni et al., 2008). During initial days, production of biogas is found minimal and slowly exceeded to high level with time (d) and becomes constant at the end. Singh and Srivastava, (2011) reported some shortcomings of using such reactors including clog formation, uneven distribution of microbes, layering of materials, trapping of gas in bubble form etc.

#### 2.5.2 Continuous process

Anaerobic digestion process can be operated in continuous mode where continuous feeding in a system is done. Feeding into reactor and removal of degraded matter from system can be done through manually or automatically. It usually provides continuous generation of biogas. This type of reactors is designed either in horizontal position (plug-flow), vertically (completely mixed) or with multiple feeding inlets (Wei et al., 2018; Al-Seadi et al., 2008). In such reactors,

there is relatively short time for substrate to digest as the previously fed material gets removed with the introduction of newly fed material in order to adjust volume in a system.

#### 2.6 Studies on availability of different type of lignocellulosic feedstock

Variety of different kind of organic materials as feedstocks have been utilized in energy purposes so far i.e. animal dung, food (kitchen) waste, agro-industrial residues (shells), agricultural waste, crop residues, anaerobic sludge, municipal solid waste etc. Though, these different feedstocks contain distinct potential for biogas based on their nature, origin as well as lignocellulosic arrangements etc. Lignocellulosic materials containing high biogas potential are basic resource for fulfilling energy demands that's why have been used greatly in bioenergy applications because such biomasses are readily accessible and produce in huge amount globally. In past literature, most commonly used lignocellulosic waste for energy generation purpose includes agricultural waste (wheat straw, garden waste, rice straw), corn cobs, crop residues and sugarcane bagasse etc. (Mao et al., 2015).

Food waste including fruits and vegetables is also considered as a good energy resource that is nutrient sufficient. The remarkable huge production of food waste is estimated among different countries like Asia, South America and other under-developing countries. Amongst all, Asia contributes towards 61% of worldwide production of vegetables. Mainly food-processing industries are highly responsible in generating such type of waste. The final destination for this waste is either landfilling or burnt off instead this waste can be a remarkable alternative for energy resource (Wadhwa and Bakhshi, 2013).

Since decades, the use of animal dung (manure) has been a common practice for biogas production. Such waste if not properly managed can pollute the environment by liberating GHGs. Therefore, its effective use in biogas production is mandatory that lessen the environmental pollution as well as give valuable by-product. Amongst all, cow dung is the most commonly used manure so far with greater microbial community. Animal manure contains high C/N ratio in comparison with food waste (Wadhwa and Bakhshi, 2013).

#### 2.6.1 Peanut shells as lignocellulosic feedstock

Zhou et al. (2017) reported that peanut hulls came under the limelight due to its extensive yearly production. This peanut waste (shells) can be effectively used to give valuable energy products
(bioenergy and biofuels). Globally, peanut has been considered a vital crop with inherent energy properties and broadly cultivated throughout different zones with over-all production of nearly 46 million tons/yr. while China contributes 37% to overall peanut generation worldwide (FAOSTAT, 2022).

Amongst agro-industrial waste, *Arachis hypogaea* shells, also well-known as peanut shells, are imperative lignocellulosic substrates which abundantly produce at global level because of extensive worldwide peanut production. For instance, during 2011-2012, approximately fourty-five percent increase was observed solely in US that ultimately upsurges the peanut production (3.04 million metric tons) based on analysis (Agricultural Marketing and Resource Centre, 2015). Polachini et al. (2016) reported that 90,000 tons of shells were produced in Brazil during 2014. Nearly, 3.64 million tons of peanut shells were recorded as yearly production in Asia (Wang et al., 2016). At global level, the overall peanut production per year is noted to be 45.6 million metric tons which give rise to shells generation of about 13.7 million metric tons (FAOSTAT, 2013). Another study (Araujo et al., 2014) reported that peanut waste (shells) contributes approximately 30% towards overall peanut production.

In Pakistan, agriculture has been a very common practice since decades. So, agricultural residues can serve as an abundant energy resource for energy yield. Generally, agricultural practices may lead to high production of agricultural residues. Such residues are basically energy inherent including shells, barks, seeds, vegetables, straws etc. (Santos et al., 2021; Bilotta and Ross, 2016). Moreover, the increased production of peanuts is majorly contributing in accumulating large quantities of peanut shells as well. These shells are usually burnt off or maybe used for animal feed or as firewood. But these shells can be a major resource of energy to benefit our environment through accompanies waste-to-energy purpose (Zhao et al., 2012; Kerr et al., 1986). Past work shows mainly these hulls (shells) used for fertilizer purpose (Fang et al., 2014). In previous work, peanut shells have been used to generate ethanol and other biofuels through fermentation (Polachini et al., 2016) or as an adsorbent for removing trichloroethylene (Ahmad et al., 2012).

Bolognesi et al. (2021) revealed that peanut shells can be more helpful in influencing the agricultural economy. A lot of work has been done concerning the utilization of peanut hulls as a potential resource of biofuel generation and its use in industrial and residential heating processes

so far (Perea et al., 2018). Bhaduri et al. (2016) reported the impact of using peanut shell based biochar for increasing crop production as well as soil heath (Nazir et al., 2021). The shells being a lignocellulosic material consist of three major constituents such as cellulose, hemicellulose and lignin.

Previous data has revealed the presence of high lignin (36-43%) in shells (Almeida et al., 2024; Fang et al., 2014) as compared to other agro-biomasses (wheat straw, rice straw etc) based on (Iqbal et al., 2013). Regardless of high peanut generation, very limited studies are available on utilizing peanut shells as productive resource for biogas production. Mostly, the peanut shells were consumed for biofuels (ethanol, isoprene etc.) production (Herring and Narayanan, 2016; Polachini et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2016)

# 2.7 Studies on impact of pretreatment methods on feedstock

The recalitrant nature and composition of lignocelluose based materials just remained a bigger problem in AD process. Moreover, several techniques for pretreatment are available and readily used to overcome this problem succesfully by altering the tighlty bound rigid structure through bond cleavage. The studies conducted on these pretreatment methods have been reviewed in detail in below section. After pretreatment, the mode of action on structure of biomass has been shown in Figure 2.4. Effect of various pretreatments on different lignocellulosic feedstock is given in Table 2.2.

Tian et al. (2018) also discussed that the closely-packed (compact) structure and recalcitrant arrangement of organic materials serves as a barrier which makes it difficult to get degraded easily. Consequently, pretreatment step is a major prerequisite which mainly focuses on increasing lignin degradation, to reduce degree of polymerization, produce less crystalline arrangement and raise material's porosity level with high surface area (Bharathiraja, 2017). Pretreatment step is highly preferable to adopt before initiating the biomass digestion process otherwise it will not be very effective in producing more biogas.

Zheng et al. (2018) reported several pretreatment techniques that have been employed in the past work to increase cellulose availability. For instance biological based pretreatment (fungi, bacteria, enzymes), chemical based pretreatment (acids, bases, other organic reagents) and mechanical or physical (grinding) etc (Dahunsi et al., 2019).

Mechanical treatment is one of the common pretreatment methods, also referred as physical treatment. It usually alters the structure of biomass when undergone shredding and results in providing large surface area. According to Carrere et al. (2010), biomass with more surface area create better interaction with microbial community hence improve the AD procedure There are numerous physical processes including sonication, liquefaction, grinding which mainly focuses on size reduction of biomass particles. A past study proved that using small sizes of particle can produce biogas in greater quantity through AD process (Esposito et al., 2011).

Olivia et al. (2023) has investigated the biogas potential of peanut hulls (shells) in AD process using two distinct pretreatments for instance, ultrasound (physical) as well as organosolv (chemical) methods. This study has used three (1:5, 1:10, 1:20) different substrate-to-liquid (solvent) ratios during organosolv method. Results showed that ultrasound pretreatment method remained more effective as compared to organosolv pretreatment in this study as it solubilized more sugars about 37.90 mg per grams total solids hence increased methane yield was obtained i.e. nearly 64%. While organosolv method has only maximized the solubilisation of polyphenols which noted to be 4.90 mg per grams TS irrespective of any impact seen on methane yield.

Pretreatment Type	Substrate	Experimental conditions	Findings	Reference
Thermal pretreatment	Wheat straw	Temperature range: 120 °C, 140 °C, 160 °C and 180 °C Time: 1 h	Thermal pretreatment (180 °C) increased biogas production by 53% more than control.	Rajput et al., 2021
Mechanical pretreatment	Peanut shells	Size reduction: 2 mm, 4 mm, 6 mm at 37 °C	Increased biogas production of 732.5 mL was observed from 6 mm PS.	Jekayinfa et al., 2020
NaOH pretreatment	Rice straw	NaOH dosage: 0.5%, 1% 1.5%, and 2% (w/v),	Maximum biogas was achieved at 1.5% NaOH pretreatment	Sabeeh et al., 2020

Table 2.2 Studies on various pretreatments of	n different l	lignocellulosic	feedstock
---	---------------	-----------------	-----------

		Duration (h): 3 at 1:20 (S/L ratio)	recorded as 57% and methane content upto 70%.		
Mechanical pretreatment	Peanut shells	Size reduction: 3 mm at 37 °C	The results showed that PS have potency to produce 22.3 m <sup>3</sup> biogas equivalent to 31.84 Kwh/month energy	Santos et 2020	al.,
NaOH pretreatment	Rice straw	NaOH dosage: 2%, 4%,6%,8% and 10% (w/v). Time (d) duration: five, 1:15 (S/L ratio)	More delignification (88%) was observed at pretreatment of 2% with more biogas (57%) production.	Khalid et 2019	al.,
Fungal pretreatment	Rice straw	Size reduction: ≤ 2 mm Incubation time (d): 30	Delignification of 33% was observed after pretreatment of rice straw with 160% methane production.	Mustafa et 2017	al.,

# 2.7.1 Studies on impact of NaOH pretreatment on peanut shells

Due to high lignin presence in these peanut shells can overcome greater use of this type of waste in energy production purpose. Therefore, use of suitable pretreatment can overcome this problem (Zhou et al., 2017). Costa et al. (2014) has discovered that alkali based treatment is most effective in facilitating high degradation of lignin, with increased surface area as well as more porosity.

Furthermore, alkali based treatment also improved the enzymatic hydrolysis thus enhanced biogas yield even under individual treatment (Jang et al., 2013). Besides this, alkaline based pretreatment method has been considered more economical. For this treatment, frequently

consumed bases (alkali) are sodium hydroxide and potassium hydroxide etc. It certainly helps in delignification in an easy way through breaking of glycosidic bonds and makes the substrate highly available to microbes as well as towards reaction of enzymes (Garcia et al., 2013). The greater part of feedstock comes under degradation and introduces the amendments in the lignocellulosic arrangement.



Figure 2.4 Pretreatment: Mode of Action

The few shortcomings of this alkali treatment have also been observed including time-consuming etc. But this treatment also results in high porosity to substrate and more surface area to degrade effectively as well as alter the crystallinity structure etc. (Li et al., 2010). Generally, alkalis target the lignin part of biomass and somehow hemicellulose part as well to increase the availability of cellulose of organic material. Literature shows that such pretreatment has been utilized more commonly in paper industry. The breaking of glycosidic linkage helps in increased delignification reduces the tightly bound crystallinity structure and gives rise to highly porous surface with increased area for bacterial and enzymatic reaction (Paudel et al., 2017).

In past work (Sun et al., 2016), sodium hydroxide has been used more excessively for alkali pretreatment to increase biogas yield from different type of lignocellulosic feedstocks such as

agricultural waste (wheat straw, rice straw, corn straw), crop residues, agro-industrial waste (shells) and other wood based residues etc.

Olatunji et al. (2022) has studied the effect of basic pretreatment on peanut hulls (shells). This work preferred to use NaOH as a base with four different concentrations i.e. from 1% to 4% under specific temperature (90 °C) with different time exposures i.e. 45 to 10 mins. The surface area after pretreatment was studied using SEM technique (scanning electron microscope). Similarly, lignocellulosic changes (functional groups) occurred during pretreatment were also analyzed using different characterization techniques i.e. FTIR (Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy. The AD process of this study was designed at mesophilic temperature. Results showed that alkali treatment lowered the crystallinity and modified the functional groups present in peanut shells. Likewise, modification in the rigid structure of these shells was also seen and confirmed by SEM pictures. The enhanced production of methane (256.78 mL/gVS) was observed after alkali-pretreatment in comparison with untreated peanut shells (151.23 mL/gVS).

Olatunji et al. (2024) further studied the impact of pretreatments on biogas yield of peanut shells either individually or combined. This study mainly focused on using chemical pretreatment (acids and base), thermal pretreatment method and nano-particle additive method as well as combined. The whole study was designed under mesophilic conditions. Results showed that all pretreatment processes have positive impact on the structural composition of peanut hulls by modifying it. The highest CH<sub>4</sub> yield (cumulative) was observed at combined pretreatment i.e. 261.36 mL methane per grams VS which was 160% more in comparison with raw substrate. Numerous studies on the effect of alkaline (NaOH) pretreatment of peanut shells are given in Table 2.3.

#### 2.8 Studies on impact of co-digestion on biogas production

The nature, origin and composition of feed (substrate) has found significant in carrying out successful anaerobic digestion throughout process. Generally, appropriate nutrient balancing (C/N) in AD process is really important otherwise can produce disturbance and failure of overall process. In this regard, co-digestion can be a useful alternative which helps in balancing the nutrients by using more than one substrate at a time in a reactor to digest anaerobically for greater yield. Inappropriate nutrient balancing can create process failure within less time span. The selection of suitable substrate is also very important depending upon nature and composition

of substrate as well as nutrient requirement. The optimum range of C/N is recorded to be 20-30 in previous work (Rajput et al., 2021).

Pretreatment Type	Substrate	Experimental conditions	Findings	Reference
NaOH pretreatment	Peanut shells	NaOH dosage: 1%, 2%, 3% and 4% (w/w), 90 °C, 1:10 (S/L ratio), time duration: 10 to 45 mins	In case of 3% NaOH pretreatment, higher methane production (256.78 mL/gVS) was achieved.	Olatunji et al., 2024
NaOH pretreatment	Peanut Shells	NaOH dosage: 4% (w/v), 80 °C, 200 rpm for 2 h duration, 1:10 (S/L ratio)	Peanut shells produced 55.45% carbohydrate percentage upon NaOH pretreatment rather than acid. High PS porosity and more surface area were also observed in case of alkali pretreatment.	Lin et al., 2023
NaOH pretreatment	Peanut shells	NaOH dosage: 4%, 6% and 8%, Mesophilic temperature range (37 °C)	Higher biogas production was recorded from PS pretreated at 4% which was 48.91% more than its control group and methane production was noted to be above 60%.	YanQiu et al., 2011

 Table 2.3 Studies on effect of NaOH pretreatment of peanut shells

Anike and Yusuf, (2017) studied the co-digestion effect of peanut shells and cornstalks on biodegradation process. In this study, solid state AD process was designed using different co-digestion ratios (9:1, 1:1 and 3:1) with controls for 120 d. A white rot fungal strain named as Pleurotus Ostreatus was used throughout fermentation process. As a result, cornstalks with peanut shells degraded more lignin of about 41%. Best results were produced at 1:1 with highest (24.1%) organic matter degradation as compared to individual peanut shells. This means digestion of matter increased by 2.4 times than solely use peanut shells.

Dahunsi et al. (2019) also examined the effect of co-digestion on biogas generation in AD process. This work has consumed peanut shells with poultry manure as co-substrates during anaerobic digestion. Practically, co-substrates were undergone two types of pretreatments namely thermal-alkaline and physical. This literature mainly focused on studying five important parameters including pH, TS, VS, temperature and time with application of two models (RSM and ANNs). Results from this study revealed highest biogas production of about 3903.15 10<sup>-3</sup>m<sup>3</sup> per kilogram TS under model RSM while 3338.3 10<sup>-3</sup>m<sup>3</sup> per kilogram TS under ANNs model for thermal-alkali based pretreatment reaction than physical. About 65% methane yield was observed through GC (gas chromatography) technique while up to 71% production of biogas was obtained after alkali-pretreatment rather than raw substrate.

Li et al. (2020) has investigated the effect of mono-digestion, co-digestion and tri-digestion during AD process by using food based substrates (kitchen waste, food waste and vegetable plus fruit waste) on methane yield. Amongst all, tri-digestion (combination of these three waste) produced the best results with more yield of CH<sub>4</sub> nearly 355 mL per grams VS as well as enhanced biogas production due to improved synergism. Table 2.4 is presenting several studies on effect of anaerobic co-digestion for biogas production.

Digestion Type	Substrate	Experimental conditions	Findings	Reference
Co-digestion	Peanut shells and food waste	1:1 at Mesophilic range (37°C)	Methane yield was high for thermal pretreatment of about 222.92 mL CH <sub>4</sub> /gVS.	Olatunji et al., 2023
Co-digestion	Peanut shells Sludge inoculum	1:5	More than 64% methane content was estimated	Oliva et al., 2023
Co-digestion	Food waste and pig sludge	1:1	Biogas generation was estimated as 253 mL/gVS.	Dutta et al., 2021
Tri-digestion	kitchen and	1:1	Results investigated	Li et al.,

Table 2.4 Studies on anaerobic co-digestion for biogas production

	vegetable waste, food waste		that tri-digestion produced high yield of CH <sub>4</sub> (methane) nearly 355 mL/gVS.	2020
Co-digestion	Peanut shells and swine manure	NaOH dosage: 6% and temp. (25 °C), 1:1, time duration: 8 days	The increased production of biogas was noted as 1280.65 mL/gVS with 686.06 mL CH4/gVS.	Yuanfang et al., 2019
Co-digestion	Kitchen waste and cow dung	1:1	Biogas yield was reached upto 179.8 mL/gVS.	Amin et al., 2017
Co-digestion	Peanut shells and cornstalks	Different mixing ratios: 9:1, 1:1 and 3:1 under solid-state AD, Time duration (d): 120	Biogas production was more at 1:1 mixing ratio with highest (24.1%) organic matter degradation as compared to individual peanut shells.	Anike & Yousaf (2017)
Co-digestion	Peanut shells and poultry manure	PS size: ≤ 20 nm, 1:1, 55 °C, 24 h	More biogas production was observed with methane production of 65.5% after thermal pretreatment.	Dahunsi et al., 2017
Co-digestion	Peanut shells and corn cobs	1:1 37 °C	Maximum biogas production (2810 cm <sup>3</sup> ) was estimated after co- digesting more than one substrate. Daily yield was measured as 93 cm <sup>3</sup> .	Ibrahim et al., 2016

# 2.9 Summary

Literature review shows that using peanut shells for biogas generation via AD method can be more practicable to encounter energy demands as best alternative in more sustainable way because of its energy inherent property after suitable pretreatment with co-digestion. The presence of high lignin levels in peanut shells can create hindrance in AD process thus contributes towards less yield. Fortunately, using pretreatment step before initiating anaerobic digestion can be more productive in terms of increased biogas yield as pretreatment facilitates the de-lignification more effectively with high cellulose provision to enzymatic hydrolysis as well as bacterial attack. Since past decades, a variety of pretreatment techniques such as mechanical, biological and chemical have been explored so far. Amongst all available pretreatments, alkaline is found more feasible, more economical with less quantity consumed under even low temperatures.

Furthermore, co-digesting of the peanut shells with additional suitable substrate can produce more biogas by balancing the nutrients and C/N ratio. For instance, there is high carbon to nitrogen ratio for peanut shells while vegetable waste contains less carbon to nitrogen ratio due to more nitrogen presence. Based on previous literature, this study has been conducted with two aims i.e. using alkaline pretreatment of peanut shells before initiating anaerobic digestion and use of selective vegetable waste as a co-substrate to balance the nutrients for a greater microbial performance. Peanut shells are carbon enriched that act as a potent energy source for microbes while vegetable waste holds nitrogen enrichment to balance the C/N ratio. Yet, to best of our knowledge, no past studies are available on anaerobic co-digestion of pretreated peanut casings with selective vegetable waste as co-substrate.

# **CHAPTER 3: MATERIALS AND METHODS**

This chapter primarily enlightens the experimental part of the study i.e. materials and chemicals (reagents) used for pretreatment of feedstock and anaerobic digestion setup. The framework of a complete experimental setup is shown in Figure 3.1:



Figure 3.1 Framework of experimental setup

# 3.1 Feedstock and inoculum collection and preparation

The collection and preparation steps for both feedstocks are shown in Figure 3.2.



Figure 3.2 Steps used in feedstock collection and preparation

## **3.1.1 Feedstocks for anaerobic digestion (AD)**

In this study, two different type of organic substrates i.e. peanut shells as a feedstock and vegetable waste as a co-substrate were utilized. Peanut shells (PS) were collected from a field located at Attock district in Punjab, Pakistan whereas vegetable waste (VW) was collected from local market (Itwar-bazar) in Islamabad. After collection, peanut shells were separated from seeds followed by shredding using shredder available in laboratory. The grinded form of peanut shells were then passed through 1 mm sieve to obtain standard particle size and stored in refrigerator using air-tight bags till further use. Likewise, five selective vegetable waste including mint, salad leaves, coriander, cucumber and bottle gourd were undergone same steps employed for PS preparation as shown in Figure 3.3.





Particle size  $\leq 1 \text{ mm}$ 



## **3.1.2 Inoculum for anaerobic digestion (AD)**

Figure 3.4 is illustrating the preparation (degassing) steps for inoculum.



Figure 3.4 Steps used in inoculum preparation (degassing)

Fresh cow manure (CM) was used as an inoculum which was collected from an animal farm located at H-13, Islamabad. Previously, the inoculum was mixed with water to make slurry in 1:1 followed by nitrogen purging to ensure anaerobic conditions and then incubated under mesophilic conditions (37 °C) for 20-25 d under regular monitoring and degassing. Later on, the degassed inoculum was refrigerated at 4 °C till further used as shown in Figure 3.5.



Figure 3.5 Inoculum collection and preparation (degassing)

## **3.2 Primary characterization of feedstock**

Some basic parameters such as TS (total solids), VS (volatile solids), MC (moisture content), and TKN (total nitrogen content) of feedstocks i.e. PS and VW were analyzed on the basis of standard procedure given in report (APHA, 2017) whereas TOC (total organic carbon) was performed in accordance with procedure adopted by Adams et al. (1951). Moreover, peanut shells were also undergone fiber analysis to get better insight of its structure and composition. All the fiber analysis, extractives along with other structural constituents for instance cellulose, hemicellulose and lignin were done in accordance with method reported by Li et al. (2004).

## **3.3 Chemical pretreatment of feedstock**

Prior to anaerobic digestion (AD) setup, peanut shells were pretreated chemically using base under alkali-pretreated method.

## **3.3.1** Alkaline pretreatment of peanut shells

For alkaline pretreatment of peanut shells, sodium hydroxide (NaOH) pellets were used as an alkali source. The whole experiment was performed at normal temperature for 24 h in 2 L Pyrex bottles for each percentage solution of NaOH i.e. 2%, 4%, 6% and 8% (w/v). For this pretreatment, the ratio of PS and sodium hydroxide solution were set to be 1:10 (w/v). To constant stirring, magnetic stirrer was put inside each 2 L Pyrex bottle at 200 rotations per minute (rpm). After completing the pretreatment step, the mixture was then filtered using a piece of cloth followed by continuous washing via distilled water until the pH was neutralized.

Later on, pretreated PS samples were subjected to oven-drying step providing 105 °C temperature for 24 h and were stored in refrigerator at 4 °C using air-tight bags until further use. All the pretreated and untreated (raw) samples of PS were undergone Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FT-IR) to characterize the functional group (structural) changes occur after pretreatment as illustrated in Figure 3.6.



Oven-drying

Washing to neutralize pH

Filtration



Figure 3.6 Alkaline pretreatment of peanut shells: (a) Untreated PS (b) Pretreated PS

# **3.4 Experimental setup for anaerobic digestion (AD)**

In current study, batch setups for both anaerobic digestions i.e. mono-digestion and co-digestion were conducted at lab scale for treated as well as untreated substrates. The serum bottles of 300 mL size were equipped as anaerobic digesters for both digestion setups. For entire anaerobic digestion setup including mono-digestion and co-digestion, total of 47 serum bottles were arranged. Out of 300 mL, only 75% volume of serum bottles i.e. 225 mL was utilized to fill the reactor bottles by keeping the headspace of remaining 25% for biogas.

# 3.4.1 Experimental conditions for anaerobic mono-digestion (AMD)

In case of mono-digestion setup, both untreated (control) and pretreated mono-digestion reactor bottles were prepared. Each set either for pretreated mono-digestion or control were prepared in triplicates. Total of 20 serum bottles of anaerobic mono-digestion setup along with its control were prepared i.e. four for control and sixteen bottles for pretreated mono-digestion. Based on organic loading rate of 10 gVS/L, a calculated amount of peanut shells either pretreated or untreated with inoculum were introduced into anaerobic digesters. For instance, 225 mL volume of serum bottles were occupied with only inoculum and peanut shells either pretreated or untreated in 1:1 (S/I) while remaining portion was filled with distilled water after pH adjustment as shown in Figure 3.7.



Figure 3.7 Anaerobic mono-digestion (AMD) setup

### **3.4.2 Experimental conditions for anaerobic co-digestion (ACD)**

In case of co-digestion setup, known amount of peanut shells either pretreated or untreated, vegetable waste and inoculum were introduced for co-digestion setup by using mixing ratio of 1:1 (S/I) that achieved desired carbon to nitrogen ratio i.e. 25 as calculated using equation 3.5. A proper manual mixing was done using glass rod. To adjust the pH level of all reactors, few drops of 1 M sodium bicarbonate solution (act as buffer) were also added into all serum bottles. After neutralizing pH, distilled water was poured inside serum bottles up-to the mark to reach the working volume as shown in Figure 3.8.



Figure 3.8 Anaerobic co-digestion (ACD) setup

At the end, these serum bottles were closed air-tightly by using rubber lids (septa). The aluminum caps were also used to proper sealed the bottles using crimping machine as shown in Figure 3.9 (a). Moreover, nitrogen purging was also done to ensure the anaerobic conditions inside digesters for at least 2 min where nitrogen gas is entered through rubber septa into reactor bottles using inlet and discharge by outlet. Then, all serum bottles were incubated at mesophilic temperature (37 °C) for duration of 45 d inside the incubator (Velp Scientifica-FOC 120E Cooled Incubator, Italy). Twice a day, about 2 to 3 min regular shaking of these reactor bottles were done manually before measuring the biogas volume using water displacement method.

To facilitate the biogas measurement, 500 mL size of water-filled graduated cylinder was placed in upside-down direction in water filled container to completely submerge the cylinder. A pipe was used to connect reactor bottle with cylinder in accordance with procedure (Yuan et al., 2019). Both initial and final water levels were noted to calculate biogas volume on regular basis to obtain daily as well as cumulative biogas production. All the reactor bottles were run in triplicates either for pretreated or untreated (control) along with blank (only inoculum) to overcome biogas error from inoculum as shown in Figure 3.9 (b).



(a) Crimping of Aluminum Caps

(b) Incubation at 37°C



# 3.5 Characterization techniques for feedstock analysis

All the characterization techniques which have been equipped for analysis of feedstock and their procedures are discussed here in detail. The primary analysis of feedstock such as moisture content, total solids and volatile solids, TKN and TOC of peanut shells and vegetable waste was performed using standard method (Adams et al., 1951). While other fiber analysis (lignin, cellulose, hemicellulose and extractives) of peanut shells were done by following the method developed by (Li et al., 2004).

#### **3.5.1** Total solids (TS) of feedstock

To determine TS of feedstock i.e. peanut shells and vegetable waste, china dish (CD) was rinsed using distilled water (DW) followed by oven-drying at 105 °C for 15 min and let it cooled in desiccator. Oven-dried empty china dish was weighed (W<sub>2</sub>) using analytical balance. After putting substrate (50 g) in china dish (W<sub>3</sub>), placed the CD in oven (Memmert, UNB-400, Germany) for 1-2 h at 105 °C followed by cooled down the CD in desiccator (W<sub>1</sub>). After drying step, the amount of substrate left in CD was total solids content. The percentage amount of TS of substrate was determined using equation 3.1:

$$TS\% = \frac{w_1 - w_2}{w_3 - w_2} X \, 100 \tag{3.1}$$

Here,  $W_1$  = weight of dried sample + china dish wt.

 $W_2$  = weight of empty china dish

 $W_3$  = weight of wet substrate sample + china dish wt.

#### 3.5.2 Volatile solids (VS) of feedstock

In determining the VS of feedstock i.e. peanut shells and vegetable waste, placed the previously dried sample in CD obtained at the end of TS step in muffle furnace (JSR, JSMF-270H, Korea) for duration of 30 min by setting the temperature at 550  $^{\circ}$ C. Later, cooled the sample in desiccator and weighed (W<sub>4</sub>). The percentage amount of VS of substrate was obtained using equation 3.2:

$$VS\% = \frac{w_1 - w_4}{w_1 - w_2} X \ 100 \tag{3.2}$$

Here,

 $W_4$  = weight of sample residue + china dish wt. after ignition

### **3.5.3** Moisture content (MC) of feedstock

The moisture content is actually the amount loss while drying the sample at 105 °C and the percentage amount of MC was achieved using equation 3.3:

$$MC\% = \frac{w_3 - w_1}{w_3 - w_2} X \ 100 \tag{3.3}$$

## 3.5.4 Total organic carbon (TOC)

The percentage amount of total organic carbon (TOC) of feedstock i.e. peanut shells and vegetable waste was determined by using equation 3.4 (Abdelsalam et al., 2017; Adams et al., 1951):

$$TOC \% = \frac{VS (\% of TS)}{1.8}$$
(3.4)

### **3.5.5 Total Kjeldal nitrogen (TKN) of feedstock**

To determine the amount of Total Kjeldal nitrogen (TKN) of feedstock i.e. peanut shells and vegetable waste, dry sample was put in TKN tubes with addition of copper sulfate, potassium sulfate, sulfuric acid and distilled water based on standard procedure (APHA, 2017).

#### 3.5.6 Carbon to Nitrogen ratio (C/N) of feedstock

The amount of C/N of feedstock i.e. peanut shells and vegetable waste was determined by dividing TOC quantity for each substrate by TKN amount for each substrate as illustrated in equation 3.5 (Wang et al., 2014):

$$\frac{C}{N} = \frac{W_1 * C_1 + W_2 * C_2}{W_1 * N_1 + W_2 * N_2} \tag{3.5}$$

Here,

 $W_1$  = weight of peanut shells (PS)

- W<sub>2</sub>= weight of vegetable waste (VW)
- C<sub>1</sub>= total organic carbon content of PS
- C<sub>2</sub>= total organic carbon content of VW
- N<sub>1</sub>= nitrogen content of PS

#### N<sub>2</sub>= nitrogen content of VW

#### 3.5.7 Extractives of feedstock

For analysis of amount of extractives present in feedstock i.e. peanut shells, the application of solvent extraction process was equipped. In this method, acetone (60 mL) as a solvent was consumed for each gram of oven-dried substrate by setting 90 °C temperature for about 2 to 3 h. Thimbles were filled with dry PS wt. (W<sub>0</sub>) and placed inside extraction tube with introducing condensation using water inlet and outlet to carry out process. Then, substrate sample (PS) was oven dried for 24 h at 105 °C followed by cooling in desiccator and sample was measured (W<sub>1</sub>). The percentage amount of extractives of substrate was calculated using equation 3.6:

Extractives 
$$\% = \frac{w_0 - w_1}{w_0} X \, 100$$
 (3.6)

Here,

 $W_0$  = weight of dried PS before extraction

 $W_1$  = weight of dried PS after extraction

### 3.5.8 Hemicellulose of feedstock

For analysis of hemicellulose content present in feedstock i.e. peanut shells, oven-dried PS sample (extractive-free) was put ( $W_1$ ) in a beaker followed by addition of 150 mL of NaOH solution (0.5 mol/L). Then, boiling was done on hot plate (Velp Scientifica-ARE heating magnetic stirrer, Italy) at 80 °C for duration of 3.5 h using magnetic stirrers for complete constant mixing.

At the end, PS sample was undergone cooling, filtration and continuous washing with distilled water (DW) to neutralize pH. After pH adjustment, sample was subjected to oven dry at 105  $^{\circ}$ C followed by cooling in desiccator (W<sub>2</sub>). The percentage amount of hemicellulose of substrate was determined using equation 3.7:

*Hemicellulose* % = 
$$\frac{w_1 - w_2}{w_1} X \, 100$$
 (3.7)

Here,

- $W_1$  = weight of extractive-free PS sample
- $W_2$  = weight of PS sample after heating

### 3.5.9 Lignin of feedstock

To analyze the lignin content of feedstock i.e. peanut shells, oven-dried PS sample (extractivefree) was put ( $W_3$ ) in a beaker followed by addition of 30 mL of sulfuric acid (98 % H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>) and kept for 24 h at ambient temperature. After this, dilution was done using 300 mL of distilled water (acid to water) followed by boiling at temperature of 100 °C for 1 h duration. Later, PS sample was cooled; filtered and continuous washing with DW was done to ensure complete removal of sulfate ions. At the end, PS sample was dried in oven at 105 °C followed by cooling in desiccator ( $W_4$ ). The percentage amount of lignin of substrate was determined using equation 3.8:

$$Lignin \% = \frac{w_4 * (1 - \frac{extractives}{100})}{w_3} X \, 100$$
(3.8)

#### **3.5.10** Cellulose of feedstock

The cellulose content present in feedstock can be determined by difference from total (100) supposing that total biomass contains only extractives, lignin and hemicellulose content. The percentage amount of cellulose of substrate was determined using equation 3.9:

$$Cellulose \% = 100 - (Extractives + Hemicellulose + Lignin)$$
(3.9)

## 3.5.11 Fourier Transform Infrared spectroscopy (FT-IR) technique

In order to determine the structural changes of PS samples that may influenced by pretreatment, a very common characterization technique FT-IR termed as Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy was equipped. Both untreated PS sample and pretreated PS samples were undergone FTIR to compare the structural changes before and after treatment. The FTIR spectrophotometer (Perkin Elmer, Spectrum 100) helped to generate the required spectra of FTIR. Each tool was cleaned properly to avoid contamination. For this characterization, roundshaped pellets were formed using the fined sample of substrate (PS) with addition of KBr in ratio (1:3) by applying 60 torr pressure. The range of 500 to 4000 cm<sup>-1</sup> of wavenumber was set to obtain the required spectra of FTIR.

## 3.6 Analytical methods for anaerobic digestion (AD) setup

With the help of water displacement method, the volume of biogas was measured on daily basis i.e. twice a day. The daily measurement of biogas which was taken in mL unit was allowed to convert into NmL unit by using equation 3.10:

$$V_{\text{NmL}} = (V \times 273 \times (760 - P_{\text{w}}) / (273 + T) \times 760)$$
(3.10)

Here,

 $V_{NmL}$  = volume of dry biogas at standard temperature and pressure

V = volume of biogas measured in mL

 $P_w$  = water vapor pressure as a function of ambient temperature (mm Hg)

T= ambient temperature

For the analysis of biogas composition, the samples of biogas were collected in the first week of AD setup, in the middle and at the end of AD process. The biogas was carefully stored in airtight bags to run on gas chromatography (GC) for quantifying the methane content in each biogas sample. The model (GC-2010 PLUS SHIMADZU) of gas chromatography equipped with TCD (thermal conductivity detector) was used containing 5A open tubular column with porous layer molecular sieve and employed helium (He) as a carrier gas.

Furthermore, to evaluate the digester stability; sample was taken from each set of reactors followed by analysis in accordance with method (APHA, 2017) at the beginning and ending of AD process, to carry out all the necessary parameters of AD process including pH, total alkalinity (TA), volatile fatty acids (VFAs), total solids (TS) and volatile solids (VS). Additional set of AD reactors was also prepared using the identical methodology employed for the experimental reactors for analysis purpose. The pH analysis for all the reactors was directly assessed on the day of AD setup using digital pH meter (HANNA-8521, USA) probe. For

conducting total alkalinity (TA) and VFAs analysis, 20 g sample was taken and subsequently subjected to centrifugation at 6000 rpm for 5 min. Later, the supernatant was further used for alkalinity and VFA analysis. Similarly, TS analysis was performed by initially weighing the reactors putting them in oven at 105 °C for 24 h duration. After drying, dried material from the reactors were shifted to china dishes and kept in muffle furnace for VS analysis at 550 °C for 30 min duration. All the analytical parameters responsible for stable AD process were analyzed using methods represented in Table 3.1:

Parameters	Methods		
pH	Digital pH meter		
Total alkalinity (mg/L)	2320B Titration method (APHA, 2017)		
VFA (mg/L)	2310B Titration method (APHA, 2017)		
Total solids	APHA, 2017		
Volatile solids	APHA, 2017		
Daily biogas volume	Water Displacement Method		
Biogas composition	GC Analyzer (GC-2010 Plus SHIMADZU)		

**Table 3.1** Various analytical parameters for AD stability

The calculation of the percentage removal of total solids (TS) and volatile solids (VS) was done based on given equations 3.11 and 3.12 respectively:

 $TS \ removal \ \% = \frac{Initial \ gTS \ of \ substrate-Final \ gTS \ of \ substrate}{Initial \ gTS \ of \ substrate}$ (3.11)

Final gTS of substrate = Final gTS – Final gTS of inoculum

# $VS \ removal \ \% = \ \frac{Initial \ gVS \ of \ substrate-Final \ gVS \ of \ substrate}{Initial \ gVS \ of \ substrate} \tag{3.12}$

Final gVS of substrate = Final gVS – Final gVS of inoculum

# **CHAPTER 4: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

In this chapter, detailed discussion of all the results obtained though experimentation has been presented including effect of NaOH (alkaline) pretreatment on lignocellulosic composition of peanut shells (PS) as well as all the structural changes occurred during pretreatment confirmed by Fourier transform infrared (FT-IR) spectroscopy and influence of alkaline pretreatment on biogas production from mono- and co-digestion, solids reduction and reactor stability in comparison with untreated peanut shells.

## 4.1 Characteristic of substrates and inoculum

In order to design and operate a digester, it is significant to identify the initial characteristics of feedstocks used in it for obtaining better results. These characteristics are key parameters to startup any AD process as it greatly influence the startup, reactor stability as well as production of biogas during AD. All the initial characteristics of untreated peanut shells (PS), vegetable waste (VW) and inoculum were calculated and presented in Table 4.1.

Parameters	Unit	Substrate (Peanut shells)	<b>Co-substrate</b> (Vegetable waste)	Inoculum
Total Solids (TS)	%	93	90.3	19
Volatile Solids (VS)	%TS	96	87.6	67
Total Kjeldal Nitrogen (TKN)		0.2	3.54	1.9
Total Organic Carbon % (TOC)		53	48.6	32.19
Extractives		2.00	-	-
Lignin		35	-	-
Hemicellulose		23	-	-
Cellulose		40	-	-

Table 4.1 Characteristics of substrates and inoculum

- Not Determined

Total solids (%) and volatile solids (%TS) of peanut shells and vegetable waste were noted to be high i.e. 93%, 96 (%TS) and 90.3%, 87.6 (%TS) respectively that favored the biogas production by AD process (Yuanfang et al., 2020).

Further TOC and TKN analysis of peanut shells were calculated as 53% and 0.2% respectively and 48.6% and 3.54% for vegetable waste (VW) respectively. The lignocellulosic composition (cellulose, hemicellulose and lignin) of peanut shells revealed the presence of high lignin content i.e. 35% in accordance with (Almeida et al., 2024; Wibowo et al., 2019; Sareena et al., 2015; Baskara et al., 2014). Table 4.1 is presenting the characteristics of feedstock (substrate + co-substrate) and inoculum before pretreatment.

#### 4.2 Effect of NaOH pretreatment on lignocellulosic composition of peanut shells

All the results of lignocellulosic composition of peanut shells (PS) obtained before (untreated) and after pretreatment (alkali pretreated) are presented in Figure 4.1.

Peanut shells were pretreated with four varying concentration of NaOH i.e. 2%, 4%, 6% and 8%. From pretreated lignocellulosic results, it was observed that degradation of lignin and hemicellulose was increased with an increase in NaOH dosage up to 4% rather than other concentrations (Khalid et al., 2019). Relatively sharp increase in cellulose recovery with all the varying concentrations of NaOH was observed whereas lignin and hemicellulose content was degraded significantly upto 4% NaOH dosage.

The remarkable increase of 96.04% in cellulose recovery at 4% dose of NaOH indicated that highly complex 3D recalcitrant structure of lignin and hemicellulose were greatly broken down that helped in liberation of the crystalline cellulose portion after pretreatment. Whereas untreated PS exhibited lignocellulosic composition, comprising of 35% lignin, 40% cellulose and 23% hemicellulose (Almeida et al., 2024; Wibowo et al., 2019; Zahra et al., 2019; Zhou et al., 2017). In comparison with untreated PS, cellulose content was observed as 72.75%, 78.42%, 63.84% and 55.61% for NaOH concentration of 2%, 4%, 6% and 8% respectively. Likewise, the degradation in lignin content was high i.e. 75% at 4% dosage of NaOH followed by 2% dosage of NaOH (Remli et al., 2014). Similarly, the content of hemicellulose was gradually decrease with increase in dosage of NaOH upto 4% which showed that hemicellulose might be actively

solvated. Moreover, amount of extractives were gradually increased after pretreatment with increase in NaOH dosage from 2% to 8% i.e. 2.25% to 4.5% respectively (Almeida et al., 2024; Zhu et al., 2010).



NaOH dosage (w/v)

Figure 4.1 Effect of alkaline pretreatment on lignocellulosic composition of peanut shells

Among all NaOH dosage (w/v), alkaline pretreatment at 2% and 4% were remained effective than higher concentrations in terms of lignin degradation, cellulose recovery and conserving holo-cellulose content (Taherdanak and Zilouei et al., 2015). The high degradation of lignin and hemicellulose content suggests that significant portion of lignocellulosic biomass underwent more degradation and converted to various components. In addition, alkaline pretreatment was effective in destroying the intricate structure of lignocellulosic biomass that improved the biodegradation after breaking up the linkage of ester and glycosidic bonding present in the sidechains and caused more hemicellulose solubilisation, swelling of cellulose as well as modifying the lignin (Samar et al., 2021; Li et al., 2010). It was clearly noticed that there was a slight decline in removing lignin as well as hemicellulose content with further increased in concentration of NaOH after certain point. This could be attributed towards extensive swelling of microfibers at higher NaOH dosage, potentially impeding the effective separation of hemicellulose from the cell's fibrous structure (Rambabu et al., 2016).

Ciftci et al. (2020) also revealed that increase in NaOH concentration upto 20% (w/v) during canola straw pretreatment at various temperatures reduced its degradation efficiency. No significant difference in lignin and hemicellulose removal between 15% and 20% NaOH (w/v) was seen. Another study also revealed more delignification and hemicellulose reduction upon alkaline pretreatment of wheat plant by giving specific conditions (0  $^{\circ}$ C - 100  $^{\circ}$ C) and resulted into more lignin degradation i.e. 10.8% and 5.4% (Taherdanak and Zilouei., 2015). The previous literature also stated the positive response of using alkaline pretreatment in degrading lignocellulosic components (Lin et al., 2023; Samar et al., 2021). Fu et al. (2018) and Paudel et al. (2017) also investigated the greater availability of cellulose content which served as food source for microbes that significantly improved the biogas production after alkaline pretreatment. All these findings were aligned with the results of current study.

## 4.2.1 Effect of NaOH pretreatment on chemical structure of peanut shells

The influence of alkaline (NaOH) pretreatment on the composition of peanut shells compared with untreated is previously illustrated in Figure 4.1. These findings verified the effective removal of lignin besides retaining more cellulose with hemicellulose (holocellulose) making them suitable for subsequent anaerobic digestion (AD). Also, these outcomes were validated through Fourier transform infrared (FT-IR) spectroscopy as well.

Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FT-IR-8400, SHIMADZU) is basically a fascinating tool that is considered quite useful for assessing the structural modifications appear during pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass. This spectroscopy also highlights notable alterations in the functional groups (chemical bonds) of cellulose, hemicellulose and lignin.

Figure 4.2 is displaying the FT-IR spectra of both untreated and alkali pretreated peanut shells. For a given FT-IR spectra of untreated and pretreated peanut shells (PS), wavenumber (cm<sup>-1</sup>) were plotted in the range of 500-4000cm<sup>-1</sup> along x-axis with percentage transmittance (%T) taken along y-axis. Prior to FT-IR analysis, both untreated and pretreated PS samples were oven dried by providing temperature at 105 °C for 2-4 h. All PS pellets (12 mm in diameter) were made by applying 60 torr pressure using moisture free Potassium Bromide (KBr) in 1:3 (w/w).

According to a given Figure 4.2, the broadband observed at 3423.56 cm<sup>-1</sup> demonstrating the presence of hydroxyl group (O-H bond stretching) from cellulose. Following the pretreatment, a slight decline in this band suggests modifications in the partial H-bonding present in cellulose which was more prominent under 4% NaOH pretreatment. This outcome aligns with earlier research (Chen 2018; Mustafa et al., 2017; Awadhiya et al., 2017; Asghar et al., 2015; Prabhakar et al., 2015; Rahnama et al., 2013). Simultaneously, other spectral bands noticed at 2924.14 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 2854.89 cm<sup>-1</sup> are because of existing alkane group with C-H bond stretching. The sharpness of peak obtained at this band with untreated PS slightly reduced upon alkali pretreatment revealing the methylene group disruption present in cellulose (Zhao et al., 2016; Rahnama et al., 2013; He et al., 2009).

The visible peak at 1741.83 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 1632.98 cm<sup>-1</sup> recognizes the ester bond amongst lignin and hemicellulose, also credited to stretching vibrations of C-O bonding as well as stretching of C=C aromatic vibrations present in lignin and to acetyl stretching from hemicelluloses respectively (Gu et al., 2015; Mondal et al., 2015). This sharp peak was completely abated after alkali pretreatment confirming that lignin has been partially removed after ester group destruction via breaking up the carbohydrate-lignin connection supported by various studies (Zhang et al., 2018; Negrea 2018; Danial et al., 2015; Cherian et al., 2010).

Another band appeared at1429.98 cm<sup>-1</sup> exhibiting the presence of lignin's methoxyl group was slightly modified upon alkaline pretreatment ensuring the partial lignin removal. Likewise, peak at 1382.24 cm<sup>-1</sup> allotted towards phenolic rings from lignin got altered to some extent after pretreatment of NaOH ensures release of lignin's phenolic group. This phenolic group of lignin is presumed to form strong connection with cellulose and its release thereby liberates cellulose as discussed in previous literature (Zhao et al., 2018; Sun et al., 2016).



Wavenumber (cm<sup>-1</sup>)

Figure 4.1 FT-IR spectra of untreated and alkali pretreated peanut shells

Furthermore, peak appearance at 1105.98 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 1056.9 cm<sup>-1</sup> depicts C-O-C stretching of cellulose and hemicellulose asymmetrically. After alkaline pretreatment, these peaks were subtly modified due to changes occurred within cellulose and hemicellulose. Additional band obtained at 897.12 cm<sup>-1</sup> refers to linkages amongst sugar units through beta-glycosidic bonds that were clearly visible predicting the intermolecular disturbance in the arrangement of hemicellulose when undergone alkaline pretreatment (Zhang et al., 2019; Gierlinger et al., 2008).Overall representation of all the bands for both samples of untreated and pretreated peanut shells (PS) were relatively similar but the shift in band values of the pretreated PS endorse alterations in

their chemical bonding i.e. inter- and intra-molecular. The existence of all given peaks in untreated PS was highly defined whereas slight alteration or complete disappearance of all these peaks were also noticed upon alkaline pretreatment that confirms the positive response of using alkaline compound effectively. Complete disappearance of peak at 1741.83 cm<sup>-1</sup> approves the effective lignin removal in all pretreatment samples of peanut shells. From the findings, it is declared that 4% NaOH concentration exhibits major alteration of these given bands guaranteed the greater lignin removal along with large portion of holocellulose rather than higher concentrations. This FT-IR data significantly aligned with the results presented in Figure 4.1. A brief summary of obtained structural peaks representing the functional groups obtained by FT-IR spectroscopy is discussed in Table 4.2:

	<b>Obtained Peaks</b>	Functional	
Sample	( <b>cm</b> <sup>-1</sup> )	Groups	References
	3423.56	O-H bond stretch (s)	
Peanut	2924.14	C-H bond stretch (s)	Negrea et al., 2018
shells	2854.89	C-H bend (m)	Awadhiya et al., 2017
(PS)	1741.83	C=O bond (s)	Lopez et al., 2016
	1632.98	-C-O- stretch (s)	Mondal et al., 2015
	1429.98	C-H bending (m)	Zhao et al., 2016
	1382.24	C-H bond (m)	Rahnama et al., 2013
	1105.98	C-O-C bond (s)	Hsu et al., 2010
	1056.9	-C-O- bond (s)	Asghar et al., 2015
	897.12	O-H bend (m)	

Table 4.2 Summary of obtained structural peaks with functional groups

# **4.3** Effect of NaOH pretreatment of peanut shells on biogas production, solids removal and reactor stability

In current study, the influence of NaOH pretreatment of PS at varying concentrations (%) on biogas yield was evaluated during anaerobic digestion either anaerobic mono-digestion (AMD) or anaerobic co-digestion (ACD) in comparison with their respective control groups (untreated). Additionally, the pretreatment effect on reactor stability i.e. pH levels, volatile fatty acids to total alkalinity ratio (VFA/TA) as well as solid removals i.e. total solids (TS) and volatile solids (VS) was investigated as well. In this study, 36 AD reactors were utilized for initiating the entire AD setup in triplicates including the control group and blank. For instance, control (untreated PS); NaOH pretreated PS (2%, 4%, 6%, and 8%) and only inoculum as a blank. The entire AD setup was continued for 45 d in a batch mode which remained progressive till the end.

#### 4.3.1 Effect of NaOH Pretreatment of PS on Daily Biogas Production

The daily production of biogas from both AD setups (mono- and co-digestion) with untreated and alkali pretreated peanut shells (2%, 4%, 6% and 8%) was assessed that underwent successful performance with proper handling and mixing. Also, the analysis of results obtained from both AD setups was also discussed.

# **4.3.1.1** Effect of NaOH pretreatment of PS on daily biogas production from anaerobic mono-digestion (AMD)

The biogas production from anaerobic mono-digestion (AMD) setup with untreated and pretreated (NaOH) PS on daily basis is depicted in Figure 4.3.

The increase in biogas production was noticed during initial days of anaerobic mono-digestion (AMD) setup that significantly led to a short lag phase. In each AD reactor, the increase in biogas production was notably commenced from next day i.e. day 2. It could be possible due to well-prepared inoculum, which contained plenty of microbial population for substrate degradation. The optimum value of biogas production for untreated PS on daily basis was about 30 (NmL/gVS) that was recorded on day 14 and ultimately decline during last days i.e. 4 NmL/gVS was measured on day 45. Whereas, all the alkali pretreated peanut shells AMD

reactors i.e. 2%, 4%, 6% and 8% boosted the biogas production upto 53 NmL/gVS, 60 NmL/gVS, 48 NmL/gVS and 42 NmL/gVS respectively.

From results, it is observed that 4% NaOH pretreatment remained more effective in improving biogas followed by 2% NaOH than untreated PS. Increase in biogas yield could occur due to successive removal of lignin and hemicellulose. The biogas production values for all the pretreated AMD reactors were surprisingly higher than control group (untreated). Additionally, untreated PS attains the optimum value sooner than all the pretreated PS. This might be possible due to delayed acclimatization of microbial population with alkaline (Sabeeh et al., 2020; Zhang et al., 2019; Dahunsi et al., 2017).





# **4.3.1.2** Effect of NaOH pretreatment of PS on daily biogas production from anaerobic codigestion (ACD)

The daily production of biogas during anaerobic co-digestion (ACD) setup is displayed in Figure 4.4. In case of anaerobic co-digestion (ACD), alkali pretreated peanut shells were anaerobically co-digested with vegetable waste (VW) in 1:1 (S/I) with adjusted C/N ratio of 25 because this is considered optimal for successful AD process as supported by previous study (Rajput et al., 2021).

From given results, it is noticed that all the AD reactors initiate the biogas production from day 2. For untreated co-digestion AD reactor (PS+VW), maximum value for biogas production was recorded upto 50 NmL/gVS whereas considerable improvement in biogas yield was witnessed with all the other pretreated co-digestion AD reactors i.e. 69 NmL/gVS, 75 NmL/gVS, 60 NmL/gVS and 59 NmL/gVS for 2% PS+VW, 4% PS+VW, 6% PS+VW and 8% PS+VW respectively. Overall, all the reactors have amplified the biogas yield upon co-digestion rather than mono-digestion which could be owing to nutrient balancing in all the reactors after anaerobically co-digested with vegetable waste. During last days, biogas yield was gradually reduced upto 3.9 NmL/gVS on day 45 as methanogens might consume all the available substrate. The increased production of biogas confirms the complete degradation of substrates during AD process. From given analysis, 4% PS+VW reactor gave highest peak value of biogas yield followed by 2%, 6% and 8% which could be due to availability of more holocellulose with optimum pH that is considered suitable for AD process (Oliva et al., 2023; Khalid et al., 2019; Neshat et al., 2017; Meng et al., 2015).

## 4.3.2 Effect of NaOH pretreatment of PS on cumulative biogas production

This study further evaluated the cumulative biogas production from both AD setups i.e. monoand co-anaerobic digestion. All the results were discussed in detail.

# **4.3.2.1** Effect of NaOH pretreatment of PS on cumulative piogas Production from anaerobic mono-digestion (AMD)

The cumulative biogas production from anaerobic mono-digestion (AMD) is given in Figure 4.5.



Figure 4.4 Daily biogas production from anaerobic co-digestion (ACD) using alkali pretreated peanut shells

The influence of varying alkali pretreatment of PS i.e. 2%, 4%, 6% and 8% on cumulative biogas production in comparison with untreated was evaluated as well.

From results, the optimum value for cumulative biogas production was obtained from 4% NaOH pretreated PS that was calculated 590 NmL/gVS followed by 2%, 6% and 8% which produced biogas recorded as 571 NmL/gVS, 505 NmL/gVS and 461 NmL/gVS respectively. Previous studies (Oliva et al., 2023; Santos et al., 2021; Wibowo et al., 2019; Shetty et al., 2017; Abudi et al., 2016) also experienced same increasing trend for biogas yield after undergone pretreatment. The biogas yield was more with 4% and 2% NaOH pretreatment due to providing more holocellulose exposure towards microbial population (Khatri et al., 2015). All the varying concentrations exhibited positive response towards improving biogas yield as compared to untreated. This could be directed towards high cellulose exposure for microbial community
during AD process after pretreatment. For instance, the alkaline pretreatment of peanut shells (PS) at 4% has provided maximum biogas which was 59.46% more followed by 2%, 6% and 8% which was recorded as 54%, 36.48% and 24.59% respectively higher than untreated peanut shells (Meng et al., 2015).



Figure 4.5 Cumulative biogas production from anaerobic mono-digestion (AMD) using alkali pretreated peanut shells

These results align with previous work (Khalid et al., 2019; He et al., 2009). The greater removal of lignin could be reason for higher holocellulose that was achieved at 4% and 2% NaOH pretreatments respectively. From overall results, it is noticed that high dosage of NaOH above 4% was not that much effective in further improving yield of biogas and gradually decline as compared to low concentrations (2% and 4%) due to fact of less delignification in addition to increased swelling of microfibers that impede the hemicellulose departure from complex structure. Such findings associated with results of past literature (Barman et al., 2014). The

portion of holocellulose for 4% NaOH PS was noted to be 89.04% in comparison with other pretreated PS samples as mentioned in Figure 4.1. This could be one of reasons for maximum biogas production (Khalid et al., 2019, Wibowo et al., 2019, Rambabu et al., 2016).

# **4.3.2.2** Effect of NaOH pretreatment of PS on cumulative biogas production from anaerobic co-digestion (ACD)

The cumulative biogas production from anaerobic co-digestion (ACD) is shown in Figure 4.6. The impact of using vegetable waste (VW) as a co-substrate in all the AD reactors along with untreated and pretreated PS at varying concentration of alkaline pretreatment i.e. 2%, 4%, 6% and 8% was also studied and compared with anaerobic mono-digestion (AMD) setup in detail.

According to Figure 4.6, all the reactors have successfully upgraded the production of cumulative biogas during anaerobic co-digestion (ACD) in comparison with anaerobic monodigestion (AMD). The overall cumulative yield of biogas with co-digestion was remained effective throughout AD process rather than mono-digestion. This could be owing to imbalancing of nutrients accessible to microbial community in case of mono-digestion AD setup when PS was solely utilized that might not sufficient to satisfy the nutrient demand of microbes, led to incomplete biodegradation i.e. insufficient nitrogen levels as discussed in past literature (Rajput et al., 2021).

During anaerobic co-digestion (ACD), maximum cumulative biogas was achieved after varying concentration of alkaline pretreatment i.e. 709 NmL/gVS, 688 NmL/gVS, 635 NmL/gVS and 620 NmL/gVS for 4%, 2%, 6% and 8% pretreatment respectively. This could be attributed to increase substrate biodegradation upon co-digestion with adjusted C/N. The consumption of suitable co-substrate is measured as an additional key factor for investigating an effective anaerobic co-digestion (ACD) as recommended in Ugolini et al. (2015). PS with more carbon value (C/N = 265) might effectively co-digested with vegetable waste containing more nitrogen value (C/N = 13.72) to adjust the ratio successfully with improved biogas results. The increasing trend of biogas production under co-digestion was also supported by previous studies (Olatunji et al., 2023; Rajput et al., 2021; Li et al., 2020; Khalid et al., 2019; Meng et al., 2015).

High yield of biogas during co-digestion AD setup directed towards the fact of appropriate adjustment of carbon to nitrogen ratio upto 25 for all the reactors as numerous studies stated 20

to 30 ratio of C/N as an ideal range for effective AD process. Therefore, proper C/N adjustment for all the reactors is most-important factor for successive ACD setup. From findings, it is inspected that co-digestion of vegetable waste with pretreated PS at 4% NaOH produced 65% more biogas followed by 58.75%, 42.2% and 37.5% respectively in compared with control group (untreated PS +VW) could happen due to greater cellulose recovery (96.04%) after high delignification achieved at 4% followed by 2% as shown in Figure 4.1.

These findings were supported by previously published work (Olatunji et al., 2023; Oliva et al., 2023; Dutta et al., 2021; Li et al., 2020; Dahunsi et al., 2017; Ibrahim et al., 2016; Liu et al., 2014).



Figure 4.6 Cumulative biogas production from anaerobic co-digestion (ACD) using alkali pretreated peanut shells

#### **4.3.3 Effect of NaOH pretreatment of PS on solids reduction**

The efficient performance of anaerobic digestion (AD) setup is usually quantified through assessing its proficiency to reduce solid content. During time period of 45 d, the reduction of solid content i.e. total solids (TS) and volatile solids (VS) for all the reactors of untreated and alkali pretreated PS (2%, 4%, 6% and 8%) using both AD setups i.e. anaerobic mono-digestion (AMD) and anaerobic co-digestion (ACD) is presented in Figure 4.7.

From results, it is noticed that all the reactors of co-anaerobic digestion setup have successfully reduced greater portion of solids (TS and VS) as compared to all other reactors of monoanaerobic digestion setup at relatively low concentration of alkali (NaOH). Amongst all the reactors, the highest reduction of total solids and volatile solids i.e. 70% and 68% respectively was identified at 4% NaOH PS + VW during co-digestion setup, that found to be 21% and 30.76% more in comparison with its control group (untreated PS+VW). The reactors with maximum VS reduction suggested that microbial community have consumed large portion of solids after successive lignin removal and high cellulose accessibility that greatly assisted in producing more biogas. Therefore, all the reactors that were undergone pretreatment resulted into greater solids reduction and biogas enhancement correspondingly as compared to untreated.

Overall, these notable outcomes are found consistent with results of biogas production. This might be related to active degradation of substrate that underwent co-digestion after pretreatment, which led to the confirmation that increased degradation of substrate is highly required for obtaining enhanced biogas yield. A strong correlation exists between VS removal and enhanced yield of biogas that was witnessed in current study as well. This type of connection was also seen in previous work (Elsayed et al., 2016; Haider et al., 2015). This increasing trend of solids removal per biogas production is found similar to previous work (Maryam et al., 2021; Sabeeh et al., 2020; Khalid et al., 2019; Abudi et al., 2016).

## 4.3.4 Effect of NaOH pretreatment of PS on reactor stability

Figure 4.8 is representing pH values of all the reactors before and after digestion process. Amongst all other essential parameters that are highly accountable for evaluating the effectiveness of anaerobic digestion (AD) process stability, pH is found one of them.



Figure 4.7 Effect of NaOH pretreatment of PS on solids reduction for both AD setups

In this study, initial value of pH (before digestion) and final value of pH (after digestion) was calculated for all reactors of both AD setups in order to gauge the AD efficiency. According to Figure 4.8, the starting pH of all the AD reactors was calibrated between ranges of 7.2 to 7.3 using sodium bicarbonate as a buffer solution to ensure its specific range that is highly operational. After 45 days, final pH levels for all reactors were measured as well i.e. 6.8 to 7.2. All the pH results demonstrated a very slight decline which could attribute towards accumulation of volatile fatty acids while digestion was being carried out for 45d period. Still, these pH values were identified within the range. The optimal range of pH for better functionality of methane producing microbes is stated to be 6.7 to 7.3 ranges (Gonde et al., 2023; Hagos et al., 2017; Neshat et al., 2017; Ye et al., 2013).



■ Initial pH ■ Final pH

Figure 4.8 Effect of NaOH pretreatment of PS on reactor pH for both AD setups

After digestion process, no significant decline in pH levels were observed with reactors produced more biogas yield as shown in Figure 4.8. This could confirm the stability of all reactors and proper working of methanogens resulted in successful AD setup within neutral range. Because, any rapid change in dropping pH level can badly influence the AD reactor stability, and then led to failure of the entire AD setup. Besides this, survival of microbial community i.e. methane producing microbes (methanogens) under low pH levels (highly acidic) can become problematic as already acknowledged in previous study (Gonde et al., 2023; Neshat et al., 2017). Therefore, considering all the AD reactor's parameters i.e. pH as well as ratio of VFA to alkalinity (VFA/TA) became highly significant to analyze AD digester performance (Eryildiz et al., 2020).

Many researchers have stated that VFA to total alkalinity ratio (VFA/TA) is another important indicator while analyzing the stability and efficiency of anaerobic digestion (AD) setup. Figure 4.9 is depicting VFA/TA ratios for all reactors of both AD setups before and after digestion.



Figure 4.9 Effect of NaOH pretreatment of PS on reactor VFA/TA for both AD setups

Overall, the reactor stability was evaluated upon pH levels and volatile fatty acids to alkalinity ratio. The obtained results revealed effective buffering of all AD reactors. Previous reports (Eryildiz et al., 2020; Kafle and Kim, 2013) stated that VFA/TA ratio must be low i.e. < 0.4 for a well-functioning anaerobic digester (AD). From results, it is recognized that VFA/TA ratio for all reactors upto 0.1 pointing towards stability of AD process.

In current study, most of the reactors, with enhanced biogas production resulted into low VFA/TA ratio i.e. less than 0.4, showing the process stability of all reactors. These results were in agreement with past literature (Eryildiz et al., 2020; Khalid et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2018; Haider et al., 2015).

# **CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS**

This chapter highlights the conclusions that were drawn from current research with brief discussion. Besides this, some future recommendations are also proposed here.

### **5.1 Conclusions**

This study was conducted to evaluate the effect of alkaline pretreatment on lignocellulosic composition of peanut shells (PS) as objective-1. The obtained results from this objective have concluded that alkaline pretreatment for all varying concentrations have shown positive response towards cellulose recovery and lignin degradation. Moreover, the pretreated peanut shells (PS) at concentration of 4% NaOH have shown maximum cellulose recovery of about 96.04% and 75% decrease in Lignin followed by 2% NaOH. The lignin and hemicellulose degradation of PS was high at low concentrations of NaOH i.e. 2% and 4%. No significant hemicellulose degradation was observed with high dosage of NaOH i.e., 6% and 8% as compared to low dosage. But, all the pretreated PS samples underwent high cellulose recovery after pretreatment. These results were further supported by FT-IR characterization. The analysis of Fourier Transform Infrared (FT-IR) examined that lignocellulosic composition of peanut shells (PS) were undergone some positive changes in its structure and functional groups of cellulose, hemicellulose and lignin after alkaline pretreatment at varying concentrations.

This study also evaluated the effect of pretreated and untreated peanut shells (PS) on biogas production. During anaerobic mono-digestion (AMD) setup, the influence of 4% NaOH pretreatment on biogas yield was high due to more delignification which led to enhanced biogas production that boosted upto 59.46% more in comparison with untreated PS. Overall, biogas production from PS with varying concentrations of NaOH followed the increasing trend upto a certain point i.e. from 2% to 4% then slight decline was observed with further increase in NaOH dosage i.e. 6% to 8% that means low dosage remained effective in producing high biogas with availability of excessive hollo-cellulose content.

This study also investigated the effect of co-digestion with pretreated and untreated peanut shells (PS) on biogas production. During anaerobic co-digestion (ACD) setup, both substrate i.e. peanut shells and co-substrate i.e. vegetable waste were effective throughout biogas enhancement. It was clearly noticeable from results that biogas production using co-substrates was greatly

enhanced rather than solely used substrate. In comparison with control, 65% more biogas was achieved at 4% NaOH pretreated peanut shells followed by 2%, 6%, and 8% due to availability of sufficient nutrients to microbial community for complete degradation. The overall reactor stability were identified within the range i.e. pH and VFA/TA ratios. The volatile solids (VS) removal showed a strong correlation with biogas production i.e. 70% and 68% removal of TS and VS respectively was observed for 4% NaOH pretreated PS during co-anaerobic digestion which produced 65% more biogas as compared to control (untreated).

# **5.2 Recommendations**

Following recommendations are noteworthy for further study:

- Conduct pilot-scale studies to evaluate the feasibility and scalability of alkaline pretreatment. Assess the economic viability and environmental impact at a larger scale to facilitate industrial application.
- Experiment with different alkaline agents beyond traditional ones like NaOH and KOH. Investigate the potential of using more environmentally friendly or cost-effective alternatives.
- Further studies should focus on comparative studies of how this alkaline pretreatment would be a better option than biological pretreatments. This will help in understanding the advantages and limitations of alkaline pretreatment.
- Study the potential utilization of by-products generated during alkaline pretreatment. For instance, explore the use of lignin-rich residues in value-added products such as bio-based materials or chemicals.
- Further investigation should focus on NaOH recovery after pretreatment to lessen the environmental influence.
- Exploring more suitable feedstocks for co-digestion to improve the AD process.

### REFERENCES

- Abbas, S. (2021, November 6). *Groundnut production in Pakistan agribusiness Pakistan*. https://www.agribusiness.com.pk/groundnut-production-in-pakistan/.
- Abraham, A., Mathew, A.K., Park, H., Choi, O., Sindhu, R., Parameswaran, B., Pandey, A., Park, J.H., & Sang, B.I. (2020). Pretreatment strategies for enhanced biogas production from lignocellulosic biomass. *Bioresource Technology*, 301, 122725 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2019.122725.
- Abdelsalam, E., Samer, M., Attia, Y.A., Abdel-Hadi, M.A., Hassan, H.E., & Badr, Y. (2017). Effects of Co and Ni nanoparticles on biogas and methane production from anaerobic digestion of slurry. *Energy Conversion and Management*. 141, 108–119. doi:10.1016/j.enconman.2016.05.051.
- Abudi, Z.N., Hu, Z., Sun, N., Xiao, B., Rajaa, N., Liu, C., & Guo, D. (2016). Batch anaerobic co-digestion of OFMSW (organic fraction of municipal solid waste), TWAS (thickened waste activated sludge) and RS (rice straw): Influence of TWAS and RS pretreatment and mixing ratio. *Energy*, 107, 131–140. doi:10.1016/j.energy.2016.03.141.
- Adams, R., Bennett, F., Dixon, J., Lough, R., Maclean, F., & Martin, G. (1951). The utilization of organic wastes in N.Z. *New Zealand Engineering*. 6, 396.
- Agyekum, E. B., Amjad, F., Mohsin, M., & Ansah, M. N. S. (2021). A bird's eye view of Ghana's renewable energy sector environment: A Multi-Criteria Decision Making approach. *Utilities Policy*, 70, 101219.
- Ahmad, E., Khan, T. S., Alam, M. I., Pant, K. K., & Haider, M. A. (2020). Understanding reaction kinetics, deprotonation and solvation of brønsted acidic protons in heteropolyacid catalyzed synthesis of biorenewable alkyl levulinates. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 400, 125916.
- Ahmad, M., Lee, S.S., Dou, X., Mohan, D., Sung, J.K., Yang, J.E., Ok, Y.S. (2012). Effects of pyrolysis temperature on soybean stover- and peanut shell-derived biochar properties and TCE adsorption in water. *Bioresource Technology*, 118, 536–544.
- Aklilu, E.G., & Waday, Y.A. (2021). Optimizing the process parameters to maximize biogas yield from anaerobic co-digestion of alkali-treated corn stover and poultry manure using artificial neural network and response surface methodology, *Biomass Conversion and Biorefinery*. 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1007/S13399-021-01966-0.
- Almeida-Naranjo, C.E., Frutos, M., Guerrero, V.H., Villamar-Ayala, C. (2024). Characterization and Performance of Peanut Shells in Caffeine and Triclosan Removal in Batch and Fixed-Bed Column Tests. *Molecules*, 29, 2923. https:// doi.org/10.3390/molecules29122923.

- Al-Seadi, T., Rutz, D., Prassl, H., Köttner, M., Finsterwalder, T., Volk, S., & Janssen, R. (2008). Biogas Handbook.–University of Southern Denmark Esbjerg: ISBN 978-87-992962-0-0.
- Ansari, F. A., Nasr, M., Guldhe, A., Gupta, S. K., Rawat, I., & Bux, F. (2021). Technoeconomic feasibility of algal aquaculture via fish and biodiesel production pathways: A commercial-scale application. *Science of the Total Environment*, 704, 135259.
- Angelidaki, I., & Batstone, D.J. (2011). Anaerobic Digestion: Process, in: Solid Waste Technology & Management. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470666883.ch37.
- Anike, F.N., & Yusuf, M. (2017). Co-Substrating of Peanut Shells with Cornstalks Enhances Biodegradation by Pleurotus ostreatus. *Journal of Bioremediation & Biodegradation*. 07. 10.4172/2155-6199.1000327.
- APHA, 2017. Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Waste Water, 23rd ed. American Public Health Association, Washington, DC.
- Areepak, C., Jiradechakorn, T., Chuetor, S., Phalakornkule, C., Sriariyanun, M., Raita, Improvement M.. Champreda, V. and Laosiripojana, N. (2022). of efficiency lignocellulosic pretreatment by combined chemo-Mechanical reduction pretreatment for consumption and biofuel production. energy Renewable Energy, 182, 1094-1102.
- Asif, M. (2009). Sustainable energy options for Pakistan. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 13(4), 903-909.
- Asghar, U., Irfan, M., Iram, M., Huma, Z., Nelofer, R., Nadeem, M., Syed, Q. (2015). Effect of alkaline pretreatment on delignification of wheat straw. *Natural Product Research*, 29, 125–131. doi:10.1080/14786419.2014.964712.
- Awoyale, A.A., & Lokhat, D. (2021). Experimental determination of the effects of pretreatment on selected Nigerian lignocellulosic biomass in bioethanol production. *Scientific Reports*, 11, 1 https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-78105-8.
- Awadhiya, A., Kumar, D., Rathore, K., Fatma, B., & Verma, V. (2017). Synthesis and characterization of agarose-bacterial cellulose biodegradable composites. *Polymer Bulletin*, 74(7),2887-2903.
- Bah, H., Zhang, W., Wu, S., Qi, D., Kizito, S., & Dong, R. (2014). Evaluation of batch anaerobic co-digestion of palm pressed fiber and cattle manure under mesophilic conditions. *Waste Management*, 34(11), 1984-1991.
- Bajpai, P. (2017). Basics of anaerobic digestion process. In Anaerobic Technology in Pulp and Paper Industry (7-12). Springer, Singapore.
- Barman, D.N., Haque, M.A., Kang, T.H., Kim, G.H., Kim, T.Y., Kim, M.K., Yun, H.D. (2014). Effect of mild alkali pretreatment on structural changes of reed (Phragmites

communis Trinius) straw. *Environmental Technology*, 35, 232–241. doi:10.1080/09593330.2013.824009.

- Baskara, S.S., Murugan, D.K., Deenadayalan, D.B., & Dhamodharan , M.I. (2014). Gasification of Biomass Using Fluidized Bed. *International Journal of Innovative Research in Science, Engineering and Technology* (An ISO 3297: 2007 Certified Organization)Vol. 3, Issue 2.
- Bhaduri, D.; Saha, A.; Desai, D.; Meena, H.N. (2016). Restoration of carbon and microbial activity in salt-induced soil by applica-tion of peanut shell biochar during short-term incubation study. *Chemosphere*, 148, 86–98.
- Bharathiraja, B., Jayamuthunagai, J., Sudharsanaa, T., Bharghavi, A., Praveenkumar, R., Chakravarthy, M., & Yuvaraj, D. (2017). Biobutanol–An impending biofuel for future: A review on upstream and downstream processing tecniques. *Renewable* and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 68, 788-807.
- Bhatia, S.K., Gurav, R., Choi, T.R., Han, Y.H., Park, Y.L., Park, J.Y., Jung, H.R., Yang, S.Y., Song, H.S., Kim, S.H. and Choi, K.Y. (2019). Bioconversion of barley straw lignin into biodiesel using Rhodococcus sp. YHY01. *Bioresource Technology*, 289, 121704.
- Bolognesi, S.; Bernardi, G.; Callegari, A.; Dondi, D.; Capodaglio, A.G. (2021). Biochar production from sewage sludge and microal-gae mixtures: Properties, sustainability and possible role in circular economy. *Biomass Conversion and Biorefinery*, 11, 289–299.
- Bowen, E. J., Dolfing, J., Davenport, R. J., Read, F. L., & Curtis, T. P. (2014). Lowtemperature limitation of bioreactor sludge in anaerobic treatment of domestic wastewater. *Water Science and Technology*, 69(5), 1004-1013.
- Carrere, H., Dumas, C., Battimelli, A., Batstone, D., Delgenes, J., Steyer, J., Ferer, I. (2010). Pretreatment methods to improve sludge anaerobic degradability: a review. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 183(1),1-15.
- Carrere, H., Antonopoulou, G., Affes, R., Passos, F., Battimelli, A., Lyberatos, G. and Ferrer, I. (2016). Review of feedstock pretreatment strategies for improved anaerobic digestion: from lab-scale research to full-scale application. *Bioresource Technology*, 199, 386-397.
- Chen, H. H., & Lee, A. H. I. (2014). Comprehensive overview of renewable energy development in Taiwan. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 37, 215–228. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2014.04.055.
- Cherian, B. M., Leao, A. L., Desouza, S. F., Thomas, S., Pothan, L. A., & Kottaisamy, M. (2010). Isolation of nanocellulose from pineapple leaf fibres by steam explosion. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 81 (3), 720-725.

- Ciftci, D., Flores, R. A., & Saldaña, M. D. (2020). Cellulose fiber isolation and characterization from sweet blue lupin hull and canola straw. *Journal of Polymers and the Environment*, 26(7), 2773-2781.
- Cirne, D. G., Paloumet, X., Björnsson, L., Alves, M. M., & Mattiasson, B. (2007). Anaerobic digestion of lipid-rich waste—effects of lipid concentration. *Renewable Energy*, 32(6), 965-975.
- Costa, A.G., Pinheiro, G.C., Pimheiro, F.G.C., Dos-Santos, A.B., Santaella, S.T., Leitao, R.C. (2014). The use of thermochemical pretreatments to improve the anaerobic biodegradability and biochemical methane potential of the sugarcane bagasse. *Chemical Engineering Journal*,248:363–72.
- Cuellar, A. D., & Webber, M. E. (2008). Cow power: the energy and emissions benefits of converting manure to biogas. *Environmental Research Letters*, 3(3), 034002.
- Dahunsi, S.O., Adesulu-Dahunsi, A.T., Osueke, C.O., Lawal, A.I., Olayanju, T.M.A., Ojediran, J.O., Izebere, J.O. (2019). Biogas generation from Sorghum bicolor stalk: effect of pretreatment methods and economic feasibility. *Energy Reports*, 5, 584–593 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egyr.2019.04.002.
- Dahunsi, S. O., Oranusi, S., & Efeovbokhan, V. E. (2017). Pretreatment optimization, process control, mass and energy balances and economics of anaerobic co-digestion of *Arachis hypogaea* (Peanut) hull and poultry manure. *Bioresource Technology*, 241, 454–464. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2017.05.152 10.1016/j.biortech.2017.05.152.
- Danial, W. H., Majid, Z. A., Muhid, M. N., Triwahyono, S., Bakar, M. B., & Ramli, Z. (2015). The reuse of wastepaper for the extraction of cellulose nanocrystals. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 118, pp.165-169.
- Dhamodharan, K., Kumar, V., Kalamdhad, A.S. (2015). Effect of different livestock dungs as inoculum on food waste anaerobic digestion and its kinetics. *Bioresource Technology*, *180*, 237-241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.12.066.
- Dharanipriya, C.P., Bacillus, P.M. (2019). Bacillus anthracis mediated saccharification of groundnut shell for ethanol production, production. International Journal of Plant, Animal and Environmental Sciences, 9, 190–199. https://doi.org/10.26502/ijpaes.005.
- Di Maria, F., Barratta, M., Bianconi, F., Placidi, P. and Passeri, D. (2017). Solid anaerobic digestion batch with liquid digestate recirculation and wet anaerobic digestion of organic waste: Comparison of system performances and identification of microbial guilds. *Waste Management*, 59, 172-180.
- Dutta, S., He, M., Xiong, X., Tsang, D.C.W. (2021). Sustainable management and recycling of food waste anaerobic digestate: A review, *Bioresource Technology*,341,125915,ISSN 0960-8524, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2021.125915.

- Elsayed, M., Andres, Y., Blel, W., Gad, A., Ahmed, A. (2016). Effect of VS organic loads and buckwheat husk on methane production by anaerobic co-digestion of primary sludge and wheat straw. *Energy Conversion and Management*, 117, 538-547.
- Eryildiz, B., & Taherzadeh, M. J. (2020). Effect of pH, substrate loading, oxygen, and methanogens inhibitors on volatile fatty acid (VFA) production from citrus waste by anaerobic digestion. *Bioresource Technology*, *302*, 122800.
- Esposito, G., Frunzo, L., Panico, A., Pirozi, F. (2011). Modelling the effect of OLR and OFMSW particle size on the performance of an anaerobic co-digestion reactor, *Process Biochemistry*, 46 (2), 557-565.
- Fang Z, Liu K, Chen F, Zhang L, Guo Z. (2014). Cationic surfactant-assisted microwave-NaOH pretreatment for enhancing enzymatic hydrolysis and fermentable sugar yield from peanut shells. *Bioresource*, 9:1290-302.
- FAOSTAT: (2022). https://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QCL. Accessed Jul 28 2022 https://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QCL.
- FAOSTAT. "Production and trade data for groundnuts (peanuts)". FAOSTAT, Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations, Statistics Division; 2015.
- FAOSTAT. "Production and trade data for groundnuts (peanuts)". FAOSTAT, Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations, Statistics Division. 2013.
- Fletcher, S. M., & Shi, Z. (2016). An overview of world peanut markets. In: Stalker, H. T., Wilson R. F. (Eds), Peanuts Genetics, Processing, and Utilization. *AOCS Press*: 267-387.
- Freeman, H.A., Nigam, S. N., Kelly, T. G., Ntare, B. R., Subrahmaniyam, P., Boughton, D. (1999). The World groundnut economy: facts, trends, and outlook. Patancheru 502 324, Andhra Pradesh, India: *International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics*, 52 pp.
- Fu, S. F., Chen, K. Q., Zhu, R., Sun, W. X., Zou, H., & Guo, R. B. (2018). Improved anaerobic digestion performance of Miscanthus floridulus by different pretreatment methods and preliminary economic analysis. *Energy Conversion* and Management, 159, 121-128.
- Garcia, J. C., Díaz, M. J., Garcia, M. T., Feria, M. J., Gomez, D. M., & López, F. (2013). Search for optimum conditions of wheat straw hemicelluloses cold alkaline extraction process. *Biochemical Engineering Journal*, 71, 127-133
- Ghaemi, F., Abdullah, L.C. and Ariffin, H., 2019. Lignocellulose Structure and the Effect on Nanocellulose Production. In Lignocellulose for Future Bioeconomy. *Elsevier*, 17-30).

- Gierlinger, N., Goswami, L., Schmidt, M., Burgert, I., Coutand, C., Rogge, T., & Schwanninger, M. (2008). In situ FT-IR microscopic study on enzymatic treatment of poplar wood cross-sections. *Biomacromolecules*, 9(8), 2194-2201.
- Gonde, L., Wickham, T., Brink, H.G., Nicol, W. (2023). pH-Based Control of Anaerobic Digestion to Maximize Ammonium Production in Liquid Digestate. *Water*, 15, 417.
- Grande, L., Pedroarena, I., Korili, S.A., Gil, A. (2021). Hydrothermal Liquefaction of Biomass as One of the Most Promising Alternatives for the Synthesis of Advanced Liquid Biofuels: A Review. *Materials*, 14, 5286.
- Gu, Y., Zhang, Y., & Zhou, X. (2015). Effect of Ca (OH) 2 pretreatment on extruded rice straw anaerobic digestion. *Bioresource Technology*, 196, 116-122.
- Guo, M., Song, W., Buhain, J. (2015). Bioenergy and biofuels: history, status, and perspective. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 42, 712– 725. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RSER.2014.10.013
- Hagos, K., Zong, J., Li, D., Liu, C., & Lu, X. (2017). Anaerobic co-digestion process for biogas production: Progress, challenges and perspectives. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 76, 1485-1496.
- Haider, M.R., Yousaf, S., Malik., R.N., & Visvanathan, C. (2015). Effect of mixing ratio of food waste and rice husk co-digestion and substrate to inoculum ratio on biogas production. *Bioresource Technology*, 190, 451-457.
- Hassan, M., Ding, W., Umar, M., & Rasool, G. (2017). Batch and semi-continuous anaerobic codigestion of goose manure with alkali solubilized wheat straw: a case of carbon to nitrogen ratio and organic loading rate regression optimization. *Bioresource Technology*, 230, 24-32.
- Hawash, S., Farah, J.Y., & El-Diwani, G. (2017). Pyrolysis of agriculture wastes for bio-oil and char production. *Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis*, 124, 369–372.
- He, Y., Pang, Y., Li, X., Liu, Y., Li, R., & Zheng, M. (2009). Investigation on the changes of main compositions and extractives of rice straw pretreated with sodium hydroxide for biogas production. *Energy and Fuels*, 23, 2220–2224. doi:10.1021/ef8007486.
- Hendriks, A.T.W.M., & Zeeman, G. (2009). Pretreatments to enhance the digestibility of lignocellulosic biomass. *Bioresource Technology*, 100(1), 10-18.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2008.05.027.
- Herring, J.L., & Narayanan, V.C. (2016). A comparative study on the utilization of corn pericarp and peanut hull in the production of ethanol and the impact on food economics. *Food Science and Nutrition*, 7:1010-20.

- Heuze V., Thiollet H., Tran G., Edouard N., Bastianelli D., & Lebas F. (2017). Peanut hulls. Feedipedia, a programme by INRAE, CIRAD, AFZ and FAO. https://feedipedia.org/node/696.
- Holm-Nielsen, J. B., Al Seadi, T., & Oleskowicz-Popiel, P. (2009). The future of anaerobic digestion and biogas utilization. *Bioresource Technology*, 100(22), 5478-5484.
- Hsu, T., Guo, G., Chen, W., & Hwang, W. (2010). Effect of dilute acid pretreatment of rice straw on structural properties and enzymatic hydrolysis. *Bioresource Technology*, 101, 4907–4913. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2009.10.009.
- Ibrahim, M., & Imrana, G. (2016). Biogas Production from Lignocellulosic Materials: Co-Digestion of Corn Cobs, Groundnut Shell and Sheep Dung. *Imperial Journal of Interdisciplinary Research*, 2454-1362. 2.
- Igoni, A. H., Ayotamuno, M. J., Eze, C. L., Ogaji, S. O. T., & Probert, S. D. (2008). Designs of anaerobic digesters for producing biogas from municipal solidwaste. *Applied Energy*, 85(6), 430-438.
- Iqbal, N., Haoxi, B., & Wu, Z. (2019). Pyrolysis of chickpeas waste and peanut shells for the production of oil and its analysis. *International Journal of Engineering*, 6(06), 208–211. doi:10.34259/ijew.19.606208211.
- Iqbal, H.M.N., Kyazze, G., & Keshavarz, T (2013). Advances in the Volarization of lignocellulosic Materials by Biotecnnology: An Overview. *Bioresource*, 8:3157-76.
- Isikgor, F. H., & Becer, C. R. (2015). Lignocellulosic biomass: a sustainable platform for the production of bio-based chemicals and polymers. *Polymer Chemistry*, 6(25), 4497-4559.
- Jain, S., Jain, S., Wolf, I.T., Lee, J., & Tong, Y.W. (2015). A comprehensive review on operating parameters and different pretreatment methodologies for anaerobic digestion of municipal solid waste. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 52, 142-154.
- Jang, J.H., & Ahn, J.H. (2013). Effect of microwave pretreatment in presence of NaOH on mesophilic anaerobic digestion of thickened waste activated sludge. *Bioresource Technology*, 131:437-42.
- Jekayinfa, S.O., Adebayo, A.O., Oniya, O.O., & Olatunji, K.O. (2020). Comparative Analysis of Biogas and Methane Yields from Different Sizes of Groundnut Shell in a Batch Reactor at Mesophilic Temperature, *Journal of Energy Research and Reviews*. 5,34–44. https://doi.org/10.9734/jenrr/2020/v5i130140.
- Jekayinfa, S.O., Orisaleye, J.I., & Pecenka, R. (2020). An assessment of potential resources for biomass energy in Nigeria. *Resources*, 9, 92.

- Kafle, G.K., & Kim, S.H. (2013). Anaerobic treatment of apple waste with swine manure for biogas production: batch and continuous operation. *Applied Energy*, 103, 61-72.
- Kamran, M. (2018). Current status and future success of renewable energy in Pakistan. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 82, 609-617.
- Kardon, I. B., Kennedy, C. M., & Dutton, P. A. (2020). China Maritime Report No. 7: Gwadar: China's Potential Strategic Strongpoint in Pakistan.
- Kassaye, S., Pant, K. K., & Jain, S. (2016). Synergistic effect of ionic liquid and dilute sulphuric acid in the hydrolysis of microcrystalline cellulose. *Fuel Processing Technology*, 148, 289-294.
- Kerr, T.J, Windham, W.R., Woodward, J.H., & Benner, R. (1986). Chemical composition and in vitro digestibility of thermochemically treated peanut hulls. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 37 (7):632–636.
- Khalid, M. J., Waqas, A., & Nawaz, I. (2019). Synergistic effect of alkaline pretreatment and magnetite nanoparticle application on biogas production from rice straw. *Bioresource Technology*, 275, 288-296.
- Khatri, S., Wu, S., Kizito, S., Zhang, W., Li, J., & Dong, R. (2015). Synergistic effect of alkaline pretreatment and Fe dosing on batch anaerobic digestion of maize straw. *Applied Energy*, 158, 55–64. doi:10.1016/j.apenergy.2015.08.045.
- Koupaie, E. H., Dahadha, S., Lakeh, A. B., Azizi, A., & Elbeshbishy, E. (2019). Enzymatic pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass for enhanced biomethane production-A review. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 233, 774-784.
- Kratky, L., & Jirout, T. (2011). Biomass size reduction machines for enhancing biogas production. *Chemical Engineering & Technology*, 34(3), 391-399.
- Kristoferson, L.A.; Bokalders, V. 3—Agricultural Residues and Organic Wastes. In Renewable Energy Technologies: Their Applications in Developing Countries. *Elsevier*: Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 1986.
- Kucharska, K., Rybarczyk, P., Hołowacz, I., Łukajtis, R., Glinka, M., & Kaminski, M. (2018). Pretreatment of lignocellulosic materials as substrates for fermentation processes. *Molecules*, 23(11), 2937.
- Kumar, A.K. & Sharma, S. (2017). Recent updates on different methods of pretreatment of lignocellulosic feedstocks: a review. *Bioresources and Bioprocessing*, 4(1), p.7.
- Leggett, J., Graves, R. E., & Lanyon, L. E. (2006). Anaerobic digestion: biogas production and odor reduction from manure. Pennsylvania State University College of Agricultural Science Cooperative Extension, http://www. age. psu. Edu/extension/factsheets/g G, 77.

- Li, P., Liu, Z., Zhao, M., Dai, X., Ruan, W. (2020). Evaluation of Biogas Performance and Process Stability from Food, Kitchen, and Fruit/Vegetable Waste by Mono-, Co-, and Tridigestion. *Energy & Fuels*,0c02598– doi:10.1021/acs.energyfuels.0c02598.
- Li, H., Li, C., Liu, W., & Zou, S. (2012). Optimized alkaline pretreatment of sludge before anaerobic digestion. *Bioresource Technology*, 123, 189 194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.08.017.
- Li, Y., Park, S. Y., & Zhu, J. (2011). Solid-state anaerobic digestion for methane production from organic waste. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 15(1), 821-826.
- Li, X., Kim, T. H., & Nghiem, N. P. (2010). Bioethanol production from corn stover using aqueous ammonia pretreatment and two-phase simultaneous saccharification and fermentation (TPSSF). *Bioresource Technology*, 101(15), 5910-5916.
- Li, X., Li, L., Zheng, M., Fu, G., & Lar, J. S. (2009). Anaerobic co-digestion of cattle manure with corn stover pretreated by sodium hydroxide for efficient biogas production. *Energy & Fuels*, 23(9), 4635-4639.
- Li, S., Xu, S., Liu, S., Yang, C., & Lu, Q. (2004). Fast pyrolysis of biomass in free-fall reactor for hydrogen-rich gas, in: *Fuel Processing Technology* 85(8-10), 1201-1211. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuproc.2003.11.043.</u>
- Lin, H., Zhi, T., Zhang, L., Liu, C., & Dong, Y. (2023). Effects of acid/alkali-pretreated peanut shells as a cheap carbon source for the bio-reduction of sulfate. *Journal of. Cleaner Production*, 385, 135753 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCLEPRO.2022.135753.
- Liu, X., Luan, S., & Li, W. (2019). Utilization of waste hemicelluloses lye for superabsorbent hydrogel synthesis. *International Journal of Biological* Macromolecules, 132, 954-962.
- Liu, C.M., Wachemo, A.C., Tong, H., Shi, S.H., Zhang, L., Yuan, H.R., & Li, X.J. (2018). Biogas production and microbial community properties during anaerobic digestion of corn stover at different temperatures. *Bioresource Technology*, 261, 93-103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.12.076.
- Liu, X., Zicari, S. M., Liu, G., Li, Y., & Zhang, R. (2015). Pretreatment of wheat straw with potassium hydroxide for increasing enzymatic and microbial degradability. *Bioresource Technology*, 185, 150-157.
- Liu, A., Xu, S., & Lu, C. et al. (2014). Anaerobic fermentation by aquatic product wastes and other auxiliary materials. *Clean Technology and Environmental Policy*, 16, 415–421. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10098-013-0640-4.
- Lokasundaram, S. (2023, July 26). Peanut inshell a beneficial bio-waste.

- Lopez, G. I., Alcudia, R. E., Veleva, L., Barrios, J. A., Madrigal, G. C., Villegas, M. M., et al. (2016). Extraction and Characterization of Cellulose from Agroindustrial Waste of Pineapple (Ananas comosus L. Merrill) Crowns. *Chemical Science Review and Letters*, 5 (17), pp.198-204.
- Maharaj, B. C., Mattei, M. R., Frunzo, L., van Hullebusch, E. D., & Esposito, G. (2019). ADM1 based mathematical model of trace element complexation in anaerobic digestion processes. *Bioresource Technology*, 276, 253-259.
- Mancini, G., Papirio, S., Lens, P. N., & Esposito, G. (2018). Increased biogas production from wheat straw by chemical pretreatments. Renewable Energy, 119, 608-614.
- Mao, C., Feng, Y., Wang, X., & Ren, G. (2015). Review on research achievements of biogas from anaerobic digestion. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 45, 540-555.
- Maryam, A., Zeshan, Badshah, M., Sabeeh, M., & Khan, S. J. (2021). Enhancing methane production from dewatered waste activated sludge through alkaline and photocatalytic pretreatment. *Bioresource Technology*, 325, 124677. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2021.124677.
- Meng, Y., Li, S., Yuan, H., Zou, D., Liu, Y., Zhu, B., Wachemo, A.C., Jaffar, M., Li, X. (2015). Evaluating biomethane production from anaerobic mono- and co-digestion of food waste and floatable oil (FO) skimmed from food waste. *Bioresource Technology*. 185C. 7-13. 10.1016/j.biortech.2015.02.036.
- Menardo, S., Airoldi, G., & Balsari, P. (2012). The effect of particle size and thermal pretreatment on the methane yield of four agricultural by-products. *Bioresource Technology*, 104, 708–714 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2011.10.061.
- Metcalf, L. (2003). Wastewater engineering: treatment and reuse. Metcalf & Eddy Inc.
- Moestedt, J., Müller, B., Westerholm, M., & Schnürer, A. (2016). Ammonia threshold for inhibition of anaerobic digestion of thin stillage and the importance of organic loading rate. *Microbial Biotechnology*, 9(2), 180–194. https://doi.org/10.1111/1751-7915.12330.
- Mondal, M.I., Yeasmin, M.S., & Rahman, M.S. (2015). Preparation of food grade carboxymerhyl cellulose from corn husk agro-waste. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 79, 50-144.
- Muneer, T., & Asif, M. (2007). Prospects for secure and Sustainable Electricity Supply for Pakistan. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 11(4), 654–671. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2005.05.001.
- Mustafa, A. M., Poulsen, T. G., Xia, Y., & Sheng, K. (2017). Combinations of fungal and milling pretreatments for enhancing rice straw biogas production during solid-state anaerobic digestion. *Bioresource Technology*, 224, 174-182.

- Nazir, A., Laila, U., Bareen, F., Hameed, E., & Shafiq, M. (2021a). Sustainable management of peanut shell through biochar and its application as Soil Ameliorant. *Sustainability*, 13(24), 13796. https://doi.org/10.3390/su132413796.
- Negrea, A., Gabor, A., Davidescu, C. M., Ciopec, M., Negrea, P., Duteanu, N., et al. (2018). Rare Earth Elements Removal from Water Using Natural Polymers. *Scientific Reports*.
- Neshat, S. A., Mohammadi, M., Najafpour, G. D., & Lahijani, P. (2017). Anaerobic codigestion of animal manures and lignocellulosic residues as a potent approach for sustainable biogas production. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 79, 308-322.
- Ngan, N. V., Chan, F. M., Nam, T. S., Van Thao, H., Maguyon-Detras, M. C., Hung, D. V., Cuong, D. M., & Van Hung, N. (2019). Anaerobic digestion of rice straw for biogas production. *Sustainable Rice Straw Management*, 65–92. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-32373-8\_5.
- Nges, I. A., Li, C., Wang, B., Xiao, L., Yi, Z., & Liu, J. (2016). Physio-chemical pretreatments for improved methane potential of Miscanthus lutarioriparius. *Fuel*, 166, 29-35.
- Nigam, S.N. (2014). Groundnut at a glance. pp 121.
- Olatunji, K.O., & Madyira, D.M. (2024). Comparative Analysis of the Effects of Five Pretreatment Methods on Morphological and Methane Yield of Groundnut Shells. *Waste Biomass Valorization*, 15, 469–486 https://doi.org/10.1007/s12649-023-02177-6.
- Olatunji, K.O., & Madyira, D.M. (2023). Effect of acidic pretreatment on the microstructural arrangement and anaerobic digestion of *Arachis hypogea* shells; and process parameters optimization using response surface methodology. *Heliyon*, 9, e15145 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.HELIYON.2023.E15145.
- Olatunji, K. O., & Madyira, D. M. (2023). Anaerobic co-digestion of alkali-pretreated groundnut shells and duck waste for methane yield optimization and sustainable environment. *E3S Web of Conferences*, 433, 02005. https://doi.org/10.1051/e3sconf/202343302005.
- Olatunji, K.O., Madyira, D.M., Ahmed, N.A. & Ogunkunle, O. (2022). Influence of alkali pretreatment on morphological structure and methane yield of *Arachis hypogea* shells. *Biomass Conversion and Biorefinery*, https://doi.org/10.1007/s13399-022-03271-w.
- Olatunji, K.O., Ahmed, N.A., & Ogunkunle, O. (2021). Optimization of biogas yield from lignocellulosic materials with different pretreatment methods: a review. *Biotechnology Biofuels*, 14, 1–34. https://doi.org/10.1186/S13068-021-02012-X.
- Oliva, A., Papirio, S., Esposito, G., & Lens, P.N.L. (2023). Impact of Chemical and Physical Pretreatment on Methane Potential of Peanut Shells. *Energies*, 16, 4698. https://doi.org/10.3390/en16124698.

- Osorio-Gonzalez, C.S., Hegde, K., Brar, S.K., Kermanshahipour, A., & Avalos-Ramirez, A. (2018). Challenges in lipid production from lignocellulosic biomass using Rhodosporidium sp.; A look at the role of lignocellulosic inhibitors. *Biofuels, Bioproducts and Biorefining*. 13. 10.1002/bbb.1954.
- Paudel, S.R., Banjara, S.P., Choi, O.K., Park, K.Y., Kim, Y.M., Lee, J.W. (2017). Pretreatment of agricultural biomass for anaerobic digestion: Current state and challenges. *Bioresource Technology*, 245, 1194-1205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.08.182.
- Perea-Moreno, M..A., Manzano-Agugliaro, F., Hernandez-Escobedo, Q., Perea-Moreno, A.J. (2018). Peanut Shell for Energy: Properties and Its Potential to Respect the Environment. *Sustainability*, 10, 3254.
- Peter, S.C. (2018). Reduction of CO2 to Chemicals and Fuels: A solution to global warming and energy Crisis. ACS Energy Letters, 3(7), 1557-1561. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsenergylett.8b00878.
- Polachini, T.C., Sato, A.C.K., Cunha, R.L., Telis-Romero, J. (2016). Density and rheology of acid suspensions of peanut waste in different conditions: An engineering basis for bioethanol production. *Powder Technology*, 294:168–76.
- Prabhakar, M., Shah, A.R., Rao, K.C., & Song, Jung-II. (2015). Mechanical and Thermal Properties of Epoxy Composites Reinforced with Waste Peanut Shell Powder as a Biofiller. *Fibers and Polymers*, 16. 1119-1124. 10.1007/s12221-015-1119-1.
- Qi, N., Hu, X., Xin, X., Ye, S., Fu, Z., Zhao, X. (2020). Mechanisms of biohydrogen recovery enhancement from peanut shell by C. guangxiense: temperature pretreatment ranges from 80 to 100°C. *Bioresource Technology*, 304, 123026. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIORTECH.2020.123026.
- Rahnama, N., Mamat, S., Shah, U.K.M., Ling, F.H., Rahman, N.A.A., Ariff, A.B. (2013). Effect of alkali pretreatment of rice straw on cellulase and xylanase production by local trichoderma harzianum SNRS3 under solid state fermentation. *Bioresources*, 8, 2881–2896. doi:10.15376/biores.8.2.2881-2896.
- Rai, G. D. (2011). Non-Conventional Sources of Energy, 30th Reprint.
- Rajput, A. A., Zeshan, & Hassan, M. (2021). Enhancing biogas production through co-digestion and thermal pretreatment of wheat straw and sunflower meal. *Renewable Energy*. doi:10.1016/j.renene.2020.11.149.
- Rambabu, N., Panthapulakkal, S., Sain, M., & Dalai, A. K. (2016). Production of nanocellulose fibers from pinecone biomass: evaluation and optimization of chemical and mechanical treatment conditions on mechanical properties of nanocellulose films. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 83, 746-754.

- Rehl, T., & Müller, J. (2011). Life cycle assessment of biogas digestate processing technologies. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 56(1), 92-104.
- Remli, N.A.M., Shah, U.K., Mohamad, R., Abd-Aziz, S. (2014). Effects of chemical and thermal pretreatments on the enzymatic saccharification of rice straw for sugars production. *Bioresources*, 9, 510–522.
- Rincon, B., Borja, R., Gonzalez, J. M., Portillo, M. C., & Saiz-Jimenez, C. (2008). Influence of organic loading rate and hydraulic retention time on the performance, stability and microbial communities of one-stage anaerobic digestion of two phase olive mill solid residue. *Biochemical Engineering Journal*, 40(2), 253-26.
- Risberg, K., Sun, L., Levén, L., Horn, S. J., & Schnürer, A. (2013). Biogas production from wheat straw and manure–impact of pretreatment and process operating parameters. *Bioresource Technology*, 149, 232-237.
- Rodriguez, C., Alaswad, A., Benyounis, K. Y., & Olabi, A. G. (2017). Pretreatment techniques used in biogas production from grass. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 68, 1193-1204.
- Sabeeh, M., Zeshan, Liaquat, R., & Maryam, A. (2020). Effect of alkaline and alkalinephotocatalytic pretreatment on characteristics and biogas production of rice straw. *Bioresource Technology*, 309, 123449.
- Saeed, M. A., Irshad, A., Sattar, H., Andrews, G. E., Phylaktou, H. N., & Gibbs, B. M. (2015). Agricultural waste biomass energy potential in Pakistan. In Proceedings of the International Conference held in Shanghai, PR China. Leeds.
- Samar, W., Arora, A., Sharma, A., Sharma, S., & Nandal, P. (2021). Material flow of cellulose in rice straw to ethanol and lignin recovery by NaOH pretreatment coupled with acid washing. *Biomass Conversion and Biorefinery*, 1-10.
- Sankaran, R., Markandan, K., Khoo, K. S., Cheng, C. K., Ashokkumar, V., Deepanraj, B., & Show, P. L. (2021). The expansion of lignocellulose biomass conversion into bioenergy via nanobiotechnology. *Frontiers in Nanotechnology*, 3, 793528.
- Santos, C. V., Lourenzani, A. E., Mollo, M., Lopes, L. A., & Santos, P. S. (2021). Study of the biogas potential generated from residue: Peanut shells. *Revista Brasileira de Ciências Ambientais (Online)*, 56(2), 318–326. https://doi.org/10.5327/z21769478765.
- Saratale, G.D., Saratale, R.G., Varjani, S., Cho, S.K., Ghodake, G.S., Kadam, A., Mulla, S.I., Bharagava, R.N., Kim, D.S. & Shin, H.S. (2020). Development of ultrasound aided chemical pretreatment methods to enrich saccharification of wheat waste biomass for polyhydroxybutyrate production and its characterization. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 150, 112425.

- Sareena, C., Sreejith, M.P., & Ramesan, M.T., Purushothaman, E. (2015). Biodegradation behavior of natural rubber composites reinforced with natural resource fillers- Monitroing by soil burial test. *Journal of Reinforced Plastics and Composites*. 33.416-433. 10.1177/0731684413515954.
- Schon, M. (2010). Numerical Modelling of Anaerobic Digestion Processes in Agricultural Biogas Plants Dissertation Anaerobic Digestion Processes in Agricultural Biogas Plants Dissertation. Dissertação.
- Shetty, D.J., Kshirsagar, P., Tapadia-Maheshwari, S., Lanjekar, V., Singh, S.K., Dhakephalkar, P.K. (2017). Alkali pretreatment at ambient temperature: A promising method to enhance bio-methanation of rice straw. *Bioresource Technology*, 226, 80–88. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2016.12.003.
- Siddhu, M.A.H., Li, J., Zhang, J., Huang, Y., Wang, W., Chen, C., Liu, G. (2016). Improve the anaerobic biodegradability by copretreatment of thermal alkali and steam explosion of lignocellulosic waste. *Biomedical Research International*, https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/2786598.
- Sindhu, R., Binod, P., Mathew, A.K., Abraham, A., Gnansounou, E., Ummalyma, S.B., Thomas, L. and Pandey, A. (2017). Development of a novel ultrasound-assisted alkali pretreatment strategy for the production of bioethanol and xylanases from chili post-harvest residue. *Bioresource Technology*, 242, 146-151.
- Singh, A., Raina, S.N., Sharma, M., Chaudhary, M., Sharma, S., Rajpal, V.R. (2021). Functional Uses of Peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) Seed Storage Proteins, Grain and Seed Proteins Functionality. https://doi.org/10.5772/INTECHOPEN.96871.
- Singh, R., Shukla, A., Tiwari, S., & Srivastava, M. (2014). A review on delignification of lignocellulosic biomass for enhancement of ethanol production potential. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 32, 713-728.
- Singh, M., & Srivastava, R. K. (2011). Sequencing batch reactor technology for biological wastewater treatment: a review. Asia-pacific Journal of Chemical Engineering, 6(1), 3-13.
- Sun, S., Sun, S., Cao, X., & Sun, R. (2016). The role of pretreatment in improving the enzymatic hydrolysis of lignocellulosic materials. *Bioresource Technology*, 199, 49-58.
- Taherdanak, M., & Zilouei, H. (2015). Improving biogas production from wheat plant using alkaline pretreatment. *Fuel*, 115, 714-719.
- Tian, S. Q., Zhao, R. Y., & Chen, Z. C. (2018). Review of the pretreatment and bioconversion of lignocellulosic biomass from wheat straw materials. *Renewable* and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 91, 483-489.

- Uddin, W., Khan, B., Shaukat, N., Majid, M., Mujtaba, G., Mehmood, A., Ali, S., Younas, U., Anwar, M., Almeshal, A.M. (2016). Biogas potential for electric power generation in Pakistan: A survey. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 54, 25-33.
- Ugolini, L., Cinti, S., Righetti,L., Stefan, A., Matteo, R., D'Avino, L., Lazzeri, L. (2015). Production of enzymatic protein hydrolysate from defatted sunflower seed meal for potential application as a plant biostimulant. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 75, 15-23.
- USDA, (2016). Production, Supply and Distribution Online. Foreign Agricultural Service. https://apps.fas.usda.gov/psdonline/.
- US Energy Information Administration, (2020). EIA projects world energy consumption will increase 56% by 2040 [WWW Document]. URL https://www.eia.gov/todayinenergy/detail.php?id=12251 (accessed 2-02-2020).
- Ufodike, C. O., Eze, V. O., Ahmed, M. F., Oluwalowo, A., Park, J. G., Liang, Z., & Wang, H. (2020). Investigation of molecular and supramolecular assemblies of cellulose and lignin of lignocellulosic materials by spectroscopy and thermal analysis. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 146, 916-921.
- Vavilin, V.A., Rytov, S. V., Lokshina, L.Y., Pavlostathis, S.G., Barlaz, M.A. (2008). Distributed Model of Solid Waste Anaerobic Digestion: Effects of Leachate Recirculation and pH Adjustment. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 81(1), 66-73.https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.10450.
- Veluchamy, C., Kalamdhad, A. S., & Gilroyed, B. H. (2018). Advanced pretreatment strategies for bioenergy production from biomass and biowaste. *Handbook of Environmental Materials Management*, 1-19.
- Wadhwa, M., & Bakhshi, M. (2013). Utilization of fruits and vegetable waste as livestock feed and as substrate for generation of other value-added products. *Rap publication*,4.
- Wang, H., Xie, H., Du, H., Wang, X., Liu, W., Duan, Y., Zhang, X., Sun, L., Zhang, X. and Si, C. (2020). Highly efficient preparation of functional and thermostable cellulose nanocrystals via H2SO4 intensified acetic acid hydrolysis. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 239, 116233.
- Wang, S., Li, R., Yi, X., Fang, T., Yang, J., Bae, H. (2016). Isoprene production on enzymatic hydrolysate of peanut hull using different pretreatment methods. *BioMed Research International*, 4342892:1-8.
- Wang, X., Lu, X., Li, F., & Yang, G. (2014). Effects of temperature and carbon-nitrogen (C/N) ratio on the performance of anaerobic co-digestion of dairy manure, chicken manure and rice straw: focusing on ammonia inhibition. *PloS one*, 9(5).

- Wei, W., Wang, Q., Zhang, L., Laloo, A., Duan, H., Batstone, D.J. and Yuan, Z. (2018). Free nitrous acid pre-treatment of waste activated sludge enhances volatile solids destruction and improves sludge dewaterability in continuous anaerobic digestion. *Water Research*, 130, pp.13-19.
- Wibowo, S., & Lestari, N. (2019). Effect of Peanut Shell Torrefaction on Qualities of The Produced Bio-pellet. *Reaktor*. 18. 183. 10.14710/reaktor.18.04.183-193.
- Xu, X., Wei, Z., Ji, Q., Wang, C., & Gao, G. (2019). Global renewable energy development: Influencing factors, trend predictions and countermeasures. *Resources Policy*, 63, 101470.
- Yadvika, S., Sreekrishnan, T.R., Kohli, S., & Rana, V. (2004). Enhancement of biogas production from solid substrates using different techniques—a review. *Bioresource Technology*, 95(1), 1–10. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2004.02.010.
- Yang, L., Xu, F., Ge, X., & Li, Y. (2015). Challenges and strategies for solid-state anaerobic digestion of lignocellulosic biomass. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 44, 824-834.
- Ye, J., Li, D., Sun, Y., Wang, G., Yuan, Z., Zhen, F., Wang, Y. (2013). Improved biogas production from rice straw by co-digestion with kitchen waste and pig manure. *Waste Management*, 33 (12), 2653–2658. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2013.05.014.
- Yuan, H., Guan, R., Wachemo, A.C., Zhu, C., Zou, D., Li, Y., Liu, Y., Zuo, X. & Li, X. (2019). Enhancing methane production of excess sludge and dewatered sludge with combined low frequency CaO-ultrasonic pretreatment. *Bioresource Technology*, 273, 425-430.
- Yuanfang, D., Ling, Q., Yanqiu, S., & Yiqing, Y. (2020). Process Modeling and Optimization of Anaerobic Co-Digestion of Peanut Hulls and Swine Manure Using Response Surface Methodology. *Energy* & *Fuels*, 33 (11), 11021-11033. DOI: 10.1021/acs.energyfuels.9b02381.
- Zahra, D., Abolfazl, M.K., Shahrzad, J., & Ayoob, B. (2019). Peanut shell as a green biomolecule support for anchoring Cu2O: a biocatalyst for green synthesis of 1, 2, 3triazoles under ultrasonic irradiation. *BMC Chemistry*. 13. 10.1186/s13065-019-0612-9.
- Zhang, L., Loh, K. C., & Zhang, J. (2019). Enhanced biogas production from anaerobic digestion of solid organic wastes: current status and prospects. *Bioresource Technology Reports*, 5, 280-296.
- Zhang, H., Ning, Z., Khalid, H., Zhang, R., Liu, G., & Chen, C. (2018). Enhancement of methane production from Cotton Stalk using different pretreatment techniques. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 1-9.

- Zhang, B., Wang, B., & Wang, Z. (2017). Role of renewable energy and non-renewable energy consumption on EKC: Evidence from Pakistan. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 156, 855–864. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.03.203.
- Zhao, Z., Li, Y., Quan, X., & Zhang, Y. (2018). Improving the co-digestion performance of waste activated sludge and wheat straw through ratio optimization and ferro-ferric oxide supplementation. *Bioresource Technology*, 267, 591-598.
- Zhao, C., Shao, Q., Ma, Z., Li, B., Zhao, X., (2016). Physical and chemical characterizations of corn stalk resulting from hydrogen peroxide presoaking prior to ammonia fiber expansion pretreatment. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 83, 86–93. doi:10.1016/j.indcrop.2015.12.018.
- Zhao, X., Chen, J., & Du, F. (2012). Potential use of peanut by-products in food processing. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 49:521–9.
- Zheng, Y., Zhao, J., Xu, F., & Li, Y. (2014). Pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass for enhanced biogas production. *Progress in Energy and Combustion Science*, 42, 35-53.
- Zheng, Q., Zhou, T., Wang, Y., Cao, X., Wu, S., Zhao, M., Wang, H., Xu, M., Zheng, B., Zheng, J. and Guan, X. (2018). Pretreatment of wheat straw leads to structural changes and improved enzymatic hydrolysis. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 1-9.
- Zhou, J., Zhang, R., Liu, F., Yong, X., Wu, X., Zheng, T., Jiang, M. and Jia, H. (2017). Biogas production and microbial community shift through neutral pH control during the anaerobic digestion of pig manure. *Bioresource Technology*, 217, 44-49.
- Zhu, J., Wan, C., & Li, Y. (2010). Enhanced solid-state anaerobic digestion of corn stover by alkaline pretreatment. *Bioresource Technology*, 101, 7523–7528. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2010.04.060.
- Zou, S., Wang, X., Chen, Y., Wan, H., Feng, Y. (2016). Enhancement of biogas production in anaerobic co-digestion by ultrasonic pretreatment. *Energy Conversion and Management*, 112:226–35.